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VISION

To be a world-class voluntary welfare
organisation that advances the development,
well-being and aspirations of persons with
intellectual disability and their integration
into society.

MISSION

To maximise the development and well-being
of persons with intellectual disability through
the provision of a comprehensive range of
quality services.
To empower persons with intellectual
disability and their families so as to enable
them to maximise their potential and fulfill
their aspirations.
To advocate the interests and causes of
persons with intellectual disability so as
to enable them to participate as fully as
possible in society.
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MINDS
STRATEGY

In line with MINDS’ vision and mission,
MINDS’ overarching strategy has always been a
continual review, improvement and evolution of our
services in anticipation of our clients’ changing needs in their
life-cycle. MINDS aims to provide a seamless range of quality
services that meets the current and future needs of Persons with
Intellectual Disability (PWIDs) and their caregivers, so as to be an anchor
player and thought leader in serving PWIDs.
The baby boom years of the 1960s saw MINDS providing education for young
PWIDs. As they grew up, MINDS advanced beyond early education to introduce
vocational training in the form of sheltered workshops, creating employment
opportunities for many PWIDs.
In recent years, MINDS has set up more Training and Development Centres
(TDC) and a residential home as older PWIDs require greater support.
A home-based service and a Me Too! Club have been launched to assist and
reach out to PWIDs who are unable to attend the TDCs for various reasons
and PWIDs who are socially isolated, respectively.
To further enable integration and inclusion into society, MINDS has
initiated a Community Group Home that encourages independent
living among PWIDs who have relatively lower support needs.
MINDS has also established a Caregiver Support Services
Centre, which recognises and gives support to the
critical role that caregivers play, in giving
PWIDs a better quality of life to realise
their potential.

OUR CORE VALUES

At the heart of our core values, lies our resolve
to be client focused. That encompasses
compassion and understanding towards the
clients, and resilience and tenacity to strive
against odds to close gaps and build
services to improve the well-being of
our clients to meet their needs.

Integrity
We conduct ourselves
with high standards
of honesty and ethical
behaviours to uphold strong
corporate governance and
accountability for the
public trust.

Respect
We regard every individual
with dignity and respect
regardless of age, gender,
race, religion, abilities
or disabilities.

Professionalism
We strive for excellence to
deliver quality outcomes
in everything we do.
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1
MR JEFFREY TAN FOOK CHEONG

4
MRS DOREEN YAP SWEE KEONG

President

Honorary Secretary

Mr Jeffrey Tan became the President of MINDS in 2013.
He began volunteering with MINDS Youth Group (MINDS’
subsidiary voluntary wing of MINDS) in 1990 and joined MINDS
Exco in 1995 as its Honorary Assistant Treasurer. For the 18
years before assuming the Presidency, Mr Tan was the Honorary
Treasurer and Honorary Secretary of MINDS.

Mrs Doreen Yap serves as the Honorary Secretary of MINDS
since 2015. She was first co-opted as a member into MINDS
Exco in 1998 till 2004, upon retirement from the workforce. Mrs
Yap returned to MINDS Exco in 2011 as an elected member
and became Honorary Assistant Secretary in 2013. She was also
a member of the Human Resource Sub-Committee, the Public
Relations, Education and Communications Sub-Committee
and currently chairs the Volunteer & Donor Management SubCommittee at MINDS.

A qualified accountant, Mr Tan officially retired in 2014, having
worked as the Regional Finance Director for an Americanlisted company in the Oil & Gas industry, for 25 years. Mr Tan
also serves on the Board of Children’s Charities Association as a
Director, since his appointment in 1997.

2
MR ROBIN CHUA CHOON HOWE

Vice President

Mr Robin Chua became the Vice President of MINDS in 2013. He
joined MINDS in 1983 and held various positions of responsibility
on its Board and Sub-Committees from 1984 to 1994.
During the same period, he also served on the Board of the
Children’s Charities Association, Singapore Association of the
Visually Handicapped, and Disabled People’s Association. He was
President of Special Olympics Singapore for more than 20 years.
Mr Chua, an engineer by training, has also been in voluntary
community service since 1994 and sits on various committees,
including Ang Mo Kio Primary SAC.  Mr Chua is a recipient of the
Public Service medal (1992) and the Public Service Star (2001).

3
MR HUANG CHENG ENG

Vice President

Mr Huang Cheng Eng was appointed as Vice President of MINDS
in September 2015. He also presently chairs the Social Enterprise
& Employment Development Committee.
Mr Huang has extensive experience in commercial and marketing
fields. Before his retirement in 2010, he was the Executive Vice
President - Marketing and the Overseas Regions at Singapore
Airlines (SIA) and was the overall in-charge of SIA’s global
commercial and marketing activities locally, as well as overseas
offices. During his stint at SIA, he served as the Chairman of
SATS Catering Pte Ltd, SIA Cargo Pte Ltd and SilkAir Pte Ltd. He
had also served on the Board of Virgin Atlantic Airways and the
Singapore Tourism Board.  He is currently an independent board
director of the Far East Hospitality REIT and M1 Ltd. Aside from
MINDS, he is also an Exco member of the Children’s Aid Society.   

Mrs Yap was a Biology Teacher under the Ministry of Education
from 1968-1973 and began working at Singapore Airlines
(SIA) from 1973 to 2004   covering a range of positions from
Cabin Crew Administration, Flight Operations, Navigation
Systems and Systems Planning, and ended her career in SIA as
a Senior Manager for Pilot Recruitment, Manpower Planning
and Administration. During her tenure at SIA, Mrs Yap was
instrumental in SIA’s Social Service Committee to select a VWO
to make a substantial donation to and adopt as part of SIA’s
50th Anniversary Commemoration in 1998. That Committee had
selected MINDS as the recipient of the donation and adoption.
Mrs Yap currently volunteers with Teen Challenge in Prison
Ministry and with RSVP as a Primary School mentor.

5
MR MIKE LEE CHIANG HAI

Honorary Assistant Secretary

Mr Mike Lee was elected to MINDS Exco on 19 September 2015
as Honorary Assistant Secretary. He was first elected to MINDS
Exco in 2013. He also serves as a member of our Residential &
Community-Based Care Services Sub-Committee since 2013, the
Allied Health Professional Services Sub-Committee since 2014,
and also chairs the Caregivers Support Services Sub-Committee
since 2013.
A caregiver of a child with special needs, Mr Lee has officially
retired after having worked as a Senior Director in a publicly
listed US multinational for 22 years.
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MS JAMIE LAU LEE HUA

9
MR GARY NG KIM YAN

Honorary Treasurer

Elected Member

Ms Jamie Lau was elected to MINDS Exco on
19 September 2015 as Honorary Treasurer. Prior to that, she
was also the Honorary Treasurer in 2009 and 2013. Ms Lau
had previously served under the Audit and Volunteer & Donor
Management Sub-Committees.

Mr Gary Ng was elected to MINDS Exco as a member on
19 September 2015. He has served as an Exco member in MINDS
since 2011.

Ms Lau is the Founder and Managing Partner of Lau Lee Hua
& Co, a certified public accounting firm which specialises in
working with small and medium enterprises. Lau Lee Hua &
Co offers a wide range of services, including statutory audit of
financial statements, special audit and investigation, accounting,
compilation of annual financial statements, preparation of tax
returns, providing advice on tax planning and compliance,
management consultancy, corporate secretariat services,
forensic accounting, and litigation report. She founded Lau Lee
Hua & Co in 1995 when she was made a practicing member of
The Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

7
MR DAVID LOH BOON LENG

Mr Ng is the Sole Proprietor of Datalink Networking Systems, a
company dealing with system integration on IT solutions. Having
started the business in 2000 providing network solutions, it has
since grown to include security and cloud solutions.
As a parent of a child with special needs, Mr Ng understands the
importance of raising awareness for them and has been involved
in the MINDS’ then Caregivers Support Group. Mr Ng also
provides his IT expertise to other organisations such as Clarity
Singapore Ltd, Life Community Service Society, and Lutheran
Community Care Service Ltd.

10
MR ONG WEE GEE

Elected Member

Honorary Assistant Treasurer

Mr David Loh is the current Honorary Assistant Treasurer. He chairs
the Sub-Committee for Commission on Accreditation of
Rehabilitation Facilities, and is a member of the Finance and
Investment Sub-Committee. Prior to this, he was in the Audit
Sub-Committee from 2013.
Mr Loh has spent more than 30 years as a Chief Financial Officer
(CFO) in local small and medium enterprises and foreign multinational companies. During 2000-2014, he was the CFO with
Kinergy Ltd, where he was instrumental in listing the company
on the Singapore Stock Exchange, and its subsequent delisting.
He is an accountancy graduate from the former University of
Singapore, and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Singapore. He also volunteers in Grassroots Organisations
and nursing home for the elderly.

8
CAPTAIN ROGER LOH CHIN CHAN

Elected Member

Captain Roger Loh has served as a member on MINDS Exco since
1997 and currently chairs the Residential & Community-Based
Care Services Sub-Committee, a post he has held since 2009. He
has also been involved in the Social Enterprise & Employment
Development Sub-Committee and the Human Resource
Sub-Committee.

Mr Ong Wee Gee currently serves as the Chairman of Finance &
Investment Sub-Committee of MINDS. He was elected to MINDS
Exco as a member on 19 September 2015. He was first elected
to Exco as MINDS’ Honorary Assistant Treasurer in 1999 and
became Honorary Treasurer from 2009 to 2013. Prior to that, he
had served in various capacities under MINDS’ voluntary wing
– MINDS MYG, since 1993. He eventually became Chairman of
MINDS MYG from 1996 to 1997.
Mr Ong joined Equinix in 2006 and now serves as Vice President
of Finance, Equinix Asia – Pacific. Based in Singapore, he is
responsible for all financial and fiscal management aspects of
Equinix Asia – Pacific operations. He oversees the company’s
financial planning, accounting, budgeting, treasury, tax and
internal audit functions. Prior to joining Equinix, Mr Ong
worked at IBM for 13 years, covering all major functional
areas from accounting and pricing to contract financial
management and cost control. During his final role as Chief
Financial Officer for IBM Singapore, he was responsible for
the finance and administration operations of all business units
across hardware and software sales, delivery and IT services.
Mr Ong’s expertise lies in the setup of new finance organisations
and management systems for companies’ new business units.

Captain Roger has been an airline pilot for over 36
years beginning his career at SIA in 1978 as a cadet.
He is currently an instructor pilot. He is also the Vice President of
Special Olympics Singapore since 1999.
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MS TAN LI SAN

14
MR GEOFFREY ONG BOON TIONG

Elected Member

Honorary Internal Auditor

Ms Tan Li San was elected as a Board member of MINDS since
19 September 2015. She is also the Vice-Chairman of MINDS’
Social Enterprise & Employment Development Sub-Committee.

Mr Geoffrey Ong joined the MINDS Exco in January 2014 and
was appointed Chairman, Audit Sub-Committee. Mr Ong is
currently the Deputy Head of Information Retention, Risk &
Controls, ITO in Standard Chartered Bank (SCB). Prior to joining
SCB, Mr Ong held various positions such as Vice President of
Finance in Deutsche Banks and DBS Bank and Chief Financial
Officer of IBM Vietnam.

Ms Tan currently holds the position of Deputy Secretary
(Industry and Information) at the Ministry of Communications
and Information (MCI). In this role, she oversees MCI’s industry
development and information policy portflios, as well as its
corporate functions including strategic planning and corporate
development, among others.
Ms Tan had previously worked for the Ministry of Manpower,
Infocomm Development Authority of Singapore, Ministry of the
Environment and Water Resources, Ministry of Finance, Public
Service Division, and the Civil Service College. Ms Tan currently
sits on the Board of Directors of the National Arts Council,
the Agency for Science, Technology and Research, Design
Singapore Council, IDA International Board as well as Beyond
Social Services.

12
MR DANIEL TAN TAI LENG

Elected Member

Mr Daniel Tan was elected to MINDS Exco on
19 September 2015. He has been an elected member since
2008. Mr Tan has served in the Social Enterprise & Employment
Development Sub-Committee, as well as the School
Management Committee, Public Relations, Education and
Communications Sub-Committee, and was the former chairman
of the Volunteer & Donor Management Sub-Committee. He was
also the chairperson for, MINDS’ voluntary wing — MINDS MYG,
from 2007 to 2010.
Mr Tan currently serves as ExxonMobil’s Aviation Field Engineer
for Asia Pacific. He was previously a Programme Manager in the
Defence Science and Technology Agency and a Branch Head in
the Ministry of Defence. He had previously represented MINDS
in the Board of Special Olympics and Singapore Disability
Sports Council. He also served in the West Coast Community
Centre Management Committee and as the President of the
Raleigh Society.

13
MR MANOJIT SEN

Elected Member

Mr Manojit Sen has served as a member on MINDS Exco since
2010. He currently chairs the Human Resource Management
Sub-Committee and the Allied Health Professional Services
Sub-Committee.

Before joining the Exco, Mr Ong served in the Finance &
Investment Sub-Committee from October 2014 to January 2014.

15
MDM MIMI TAN

Co-Opted Member

Mdm Mimi Tan has served as a co-opted member on MINDS Exco
since 2009. She was previously appointed as the Chairperson
of the Caregivers Support Sub-Committee from 2009 to 2011.
Mdm Tan serves as a Sub-Committee member for the Residential
& Community-Based Care Services and Volunteer & Donor
Management Sub-Committees at MINDS. She is also currently
serving on the Board of Singapore Special Olympics and
Singapore Disability Sports Council as MINDS’ representative.
She is the Assistant General Manager of Ng Teow Yhee & Sons
(S) Pte Ltd.

16
MR EUGENE NAI ZIPING

Co-Opted Member

Mr Eugene Nai has served as a co-opted member on MINDS
Exco since 2015.
Eugene is currently a legal counsel in APL Logistics, an
international logistics service provider. Prior to this, Eugene had
served in the Attorney General’s Chambers as a deputy public
prosecutor. In private practice, Eugene trained and subsequently
practised shipping law in a top Singapore firm. Thereafter, he
practised general law in the chambers of a senior counsel. Since
2010, he has also been teaching negotiation to students of the
bar exam at the Singapore Institute of Legal Education.
Besides MINDS, Eugene is also currently serving as the chairman
at MINDS MYG, the voluntary wing of MINDS. Prior to assuming
the chairmanship of MINDS MYG, he was the chairperson of a
project within MINDS MYG — Basic Knowledge Training Group
from 2009 to 2011.

Mr Manojit Sen has 20 years of experience as an HR professional
across fast-moving consumer goods and the energy industries.
He has been through a number of local, regional and global
roles and led diverse teams in Asia, Europe and America.
He currently heads the Human Resource team for Royal Dutch
Shell’s Lubricant business across Asia-Pacific.
Besides MINDS, he also serves on the Board of Butterflies India.
annual report 2016/2017
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PATRON OF MINDS

Dr Cheong Choong Kong

ADVISOR OF MINDS

Dr S Vasoo
Prof Tan Ser Kiat
Mrs Jaya Mohideen

EXECUTIVE BOARD 2015 – 2017
The following Executive Committee was elected at the AGM on Saturday, 19 September 2015:
President

Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong

Vice Presidents

Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe
Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Honorary Secretary

Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong

Honorary Assistant Secretary

Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai

Honorary Treasurer

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

Honorary Assistant Treasurer

Mr David Loh Boon Leng

Elected Members

Captain Roger Loh Chin Chan
Mr Gary Ng Kim Yan (Until 21 February 2017)
Mr Ong Wee Gee
Ms Tan Li San
Mr Daniel Tan Tai Leng
Mr Manojit Sen

Co-Opted Members

Mr Geoffrey Ong Boon Tiong
Mdm Mimi Tan
Mr Eugene Nai Ziping
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SUB-COMMITTEES
SCHOOL MANAGEMENT (SM) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe

Supervisor

Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong

Treasurer

Mr Tan Geok Kwang Eric (Appointed on 24 February 2017)

Secretary

Mrs Chan Kwai Foong

Sub-Committee Members

Dr Bhavani Sririam
Dr Mary George
Ms Sue-Ann Phay
Mr Boo Chong-Han

MOE Representative

Ms Chong Suet Fong

CEO

Mr Keh Eng Song (Until 10 May 2017)

Principal, FGS

Mrs Chan Kwai Foong

Principal, LGS

Ms Suzana Bte Soo

Principal, TGS

Ms Cindy Lim Siew Cheng

Principal, WGS

Mr Lawrence Chong Kwai Kuen

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE & EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT (SEED) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Vice Chairman

Ms Tan Li San

Secretary

Mr Ng Mun Wai (Appointed on 31 March 2017)

Sub-Committee Members

Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe
Ms Jackie Seah
Mr Wong Marn Chee

RESIDENTIAL & COMMUNITY-BASED CARE SERVICES (RCCS) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Captain Roger Loh Chin Chan

Vice Chairman

Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Secretary

Ms Quek Ting Yan Jaslyn (Appointed on 26 October 2016)

Sub-Committee Members

Mdm Mimi Tan
Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai
Mr Yap Soon Kiang

FINANCE & INVESTMENT (FI) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Ong Wee Gee

Vice Chairman

Mr Hooi Mun Hon

Secretary

Mrs Winnie Tee

Sub-Committee Members

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua
Mr Tan Geok Kwang Eric (Appointed on 24 February 2017)
Mr David Loh Boon Leng
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SUB-COMMITTEES
HUMAN RESOURCE (HR) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Manojit Sen

Vice Chairman

Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong

Secretary

Mr Chen Ching Chion

Sub-Committee Member

Mr Mohan Dass

REMUNERATION (RM) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong

Sub-Committee Members

Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe
Mr Huang Cheng Eng
Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong
Mr Manojit Sen

ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (AHPS) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Manojit Sen

Vice Chairman

Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai

Secretary

Dr Hoili Lim

Sub-Committee Members

Dr Wong Mei Yin
Mr Frederick Low
Mr J R Karthikeyen
Dr Chua Hong Choon

VOLUNTEER & DONOR MANAGEMENT (VDM) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong

Vice Chairman

Mr Boo Chong-Han

Secretary

Ms Siah Peiling (Until 3 May 2017)

Sub-Committee Members

Mr Lee Theng Ngee
Mr Eugene Nai Ziping
Ms Wee Jieyin
Mdm Mimi Tan

CAREGIVERS SUPPORT (CS) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai

Vice Chairman

Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong

Secretary

Ms Chia Poh Hong

Sub-Committee Members

Ms Amelia Tan
Mr William Teo
Mr Tan Moon Chong
Ms Nimisha Kesariuwani

AUDIT & RISK (AR) COMMITTEE
Chairman

Mr Geoffrey Ong Boon Tiong

Vice Chairman

Mr Daniel Tan Tai Leng

Secretary

Mr Boey Khing How

Sub-Committee Members

Ms Siti Nuriyah Binte Abdul Manaf
Mr David Kwok (Appointed on 12 January 2016)
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From left to right: Ms Evelyn Leong Su Ling, Mrs Winnie Tee, Mr Chen Ching Chion, Dr Jeffrey Chan, Mr Keh Eng Song, Ms Chia Poh Hong,
Mr Jeff Kwan Wan Chew, Ms Koh Gee May, Dr Hoili Lim, Mr Bryan Lim Chong Chee

Chief Executive Officer

Mr Keh Eng Song (Until 10 May 2017)

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Dr Jeffrey Chan (Appointed on 21 March 2016)

Director, Residential &
Community-Based Care Services

Ms Koh Gee May

Director, Allied Health Professional Services

Dr Hoili Lim

Director, Social Enterprise and
Employment Development

Mr Jeff Kwan Wan Chew

Director, Corporate Development & Outreach

Ms Evelyn Leong Su Ling (Appointed on 3 October 2016)

Director, Finance

Mrs Winnie Tee

Director, Human Resource and Admin

Mr Chen Ching Chion

Consultant, Caregivers Support Services

Ms Chia Poh Hong

Deputy Director, Residential &
Community-Based Care Services

Mr Bryan Lim Chong Chee (Appointed on 1 December 2016)
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PRESIDENT’S
REVIEW

We strive to harness their
core competencies and
enable opportunities
for them to brave new
frontiers.

“In recent years, MINDS has broadened our capabilities to support clients with multiple
disabilities like Autism Spectrum DIsorder (ASD) by providing the best resources to maximise
their potential.“
MINDS has come a long way in championing the cause of
Persons with Intellectual Disabilities (PWIDs) and has made
great progress in providing a full spectrum of programmes and
services to develop them into independent individuals who
contribute positively to society.
2016 was no different as we strived to articulate and affirm
these values and purposes by empowering our students in
more ways than one. Employing the use of assistive technology
to improve the students’ vocational skills, Republic Polytechnic
inked an Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with MINDS
to assist us in our training and developmental programmes in
schools, Employment & Development Centres, and Training
& Development Centres. One of the projects include the
development of a software where an avatar acts as a teacher
and guides the students through the learning process. Besides
focusing on vocational skills, we looked at various ways to expand
their skills set and provide an environment that enables them
to thrive in the best possible way. MINDS Woodlands Gardens

10

School has pioneered the “Pupils And PArents (PAPA) Reading”
Programme to encourage parents to take the initiative to read to
their children at their leisure time so as to improve their literacy
skills. They also launched the “Mathematics Mastery” (MAMA)
programme to encourage mothers to reinforce functional
mathematics concepts and applications at home through house
chores or grocery shopping. Our schools have also expanded our
expertise beyond educating persons with intellectual disability
to encompass persons with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Not
only has MINDS Fernvale Gardens School set up a class solely
for students with ASD; they have also designed a classroom to
provide an optimum environment to educate them.
It is imbibed in our corporate DNA to search for opportunities
in times of adversity and bring about an array of employment
opportunities for our clients so that they can be gainfully
employed. Broadening our focus from sourcing contract jobs to
developing our own in-house social enterprise units, 2016 saw
several of our units taking flight. MINDS Water garnered S$90,202
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PRESIDENT’S
REVIEW
of sales revenue by the end of the fiscal year, while MINDS Bakers
and MINDS Flavours’ sales revenue increased from S$220,736
to S$288,173, enjoying a 31% growth. Building on the success
of MINDS Taiko Drummers’ performance during the National
Day Parade in 2014, this year, the drummers were invited to
participate in the Pyeongchang Special Music & Art Festival 2016
in Pyeongchang, South Korea. The ability to partake in initiatives
typically done by mainstream individuals is testament to PWIDs
inclusiveness in society.
While developing various social enterprises to harness the
competencies of our clients, it is also crucial to be able to
profile them accurately and right-site them into appropriate
vocational tracks. With this in mind, the MINDS Training Officers
had undergone a series of training sessions where they were
trained to assess the clients with various assessment tools such as
Work Support Profile (WSP), Client Assessment Form (CAF) and
Beckers Work Adjustment Profile-II Checklist.
In recent years, MINDS has broadened our capabilities to support
clients with multiple disabilities like ASD by providing the best
resources to maximise their potential. Not only will the new Yishun
Training & Development Centre dedicate itself to serving clients
with ASD, the staff will also be undergoing overseas training in
Treatment and Education of Autistic and Communication-related
Handicapped Children (TEACHC). Staff would be able to learn
various training programmes, research, and community-based
services designed to enhance the quality of life for persons with
ASD and their families.
For lower-support-needs clients from our Training & Development
Centres, we have also initiated the “MINDS Community Model”
programme where selected clients would spend more of their
training time to participate within the community and train their
community-living skills; allowing them to spend more time to
practise the skills they have learned in the natural environment.
In the digital age, we live where we are well endowed with
much progressive resources and MINDS has also capitalised
on assistive technology to enable their full participation in life.
With the funding from Infocomm Development Authority, our
Occupational Therapists and Physiotherapists were able to
eliminate some of the physical barriers by using state-of-the-art
software and simulators to engage our clients in various activities.
These simulators offer a host of games and activities that not only
train our clients on their memory, attention span, and reaction
time, but also teach them pre-vocational skills such as sweeping
the floor or wiping the tables.
While MINDS remains steadfast on our fundamentals, we must
also aim to do more to reinforce and extend our strengths in the
provision of holistic care. This can be achieved by being at the
forefront in shaping the ways we deliver our services to PWIDs
through new approaches. With this aim, MINDS has established
the MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Developmental
Disabilities, where we will lead evidence-based practice across
MINDS as well as in the social service sector through delivering
professional and leadership development, and applied research.
We hope this will steer us in becoming a world-class service
provider.

Caregivers are one of the linchpins to bringing our clients to full
flower, dedicating their utmost to caring for them. It is heartening
to note that the younger generations such as Ms Sherry Lim,
a young but strong advocate for persons with special needs,
have stepped up to walk the talk, assuming the primary role of
caregiving. For someone who is at the age of enjoying financial
freedom and lifestyle choices, she chooses to spend her free time
with her brother, Kian Say, a client from Woodlands Employment
Development Centre, by bringing him out for different
activities and introducing him to her friends. Her altruistic spirit
and ardour for persons with special needs are truly exemplary
and lauded for.
In line with the Caregivers’ Milestone Training Roadmap, the
Caregivers’ Support Services had also worked with the MINDS’
Allied Health Professionals (AHPs) to conduct workshops at the
various centres to advance the skills of caregivers in caring for
their charges.  With this, MINDS hopes to match the caregivers’
training needs with the development milestones of PWIDs.
We see how films could bring about a pure, visceral emotion
from the audience while giving the narrative an intellectual depth
that encourages self-reflection and introspection. Thus, apart
from conducting awareness talks in schools, MINDS had also
organised our first-ever MINDS Film Festival featuring films that
centre on persons with intellectual disability. These films were
specially curated; for they resonate with our beliefs, aspirations
for, and ideals of persons with intellectual disability. Through
these films, we hope the public could draw many distinctions
from the lives of persons with intellectual disability and develop
a deeper understanding and appreciation for them.
At the core of our advocacy efforts, it may seem that every action
kindles a slow-burning fuse inside the heart of an individual.
However arduous it may be, we believe that once this fuse burns
through, it will ignite a fury of passion in all of us that would
galvanise us to contribute our bit for the community, creating a
snowball effect that will eventually lead to inclusiveness in society.  
Behind every client’s smile is a complex constellation of efforts
put together by MINDS staff, caregivers, volunteers, corporate
partners, and donors, to empower them in every aspect and
maximise their potential in every way. Moving forward in this
rapidly changing environment, MINDS is determined to achieve
the strategic thrusts and new programmes developed, to serve
PWID clients better. Do look out for a new image of MINDS as we
undergo a rebranding exercise to propel us even further.

JEFFREY TAN
President of MINDS
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
MINDS is led by a team of independent Executive Committee
(Exco) members who are elected or co-opted volunteers. The
Exco is headed by the President and consists of members
possessing diversified leadership experiences across various
public and private sectors. No staff sits on the Exco; Senior
Management attends Exco meetings as ex-officio. During the
financial year 2016/2017, the Executive Committee met once
every month (except for June, September and December 2016)
to keep itself abreast of MINDS’ activities, development as well as
to approve projects. The authorities, duties and responsibilities
of Exco are guided by the MINDS Constitution and Terms of
Reference. MINDS also has an induction and training policy for
new Exco members where members will be issued with a Board
kit and given a briefing by Senior Management on MINDS’
vision, mission, strategy and operation. During the year, the
Exco undertook a self-evaluation assessment to identify areas of
improvement.
The Exco is supported by 10 sub-committees overseeing key
areas within MINDS, which are guided by their respective Terms
of Reference approved by the Exco:
i)
ii)

School Management Committee (SMC)
Social Enterprise & Employment Development Committee
(SEED)
iii) Residential & Community-Based Care Services Committee
(RCCS)
iv) Finance & Investment Committee (FIC)
v)
Human Resource Committee (HRC)
vi) Remuneration Committee (RC)
vii) Allied Health Professional Services Committee (AHPS)
viii) Volunteer & Donor Management Committee (VDMC)
ix) Caregivers Support Services Committee (CSC)
x)
Audit & Risk Committee (ARC)

Exco and sub-committee members are not paid any remuneration
or fee for their services.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Management provides Exco with treasury reports on a monthly
basis to enable the Exco to make a balanced and informed
assessment of MINDS’ performance, position and prospects.
Exco is responsible for the appointment of external auditors
during MINDS’ Annual General Meeting. The ARC works closely
with the FIC to supervise the annual statutory audit of MINDS
and assesses the external auditors based on the quality of audit
performed and their independence. Recommendation would
then be made to the Exco to appoint the external auditors.
During the year, the Exco agreed to expand the role of Audit
Committee (AC) to include operational risk management and
the committee was renamed as Audit & Risk Committee. A risk
management function, covering operational and clinical risks, will
be created under the Deputy CEO’s portfolio. The ARC continues
to oversee internal controls and the results of internal audit (IA)
work on behalf of the Exco. The IA workplan is approved by the
ARC. The workplan is formulated using a risk-based approach.
The IA department works closely with the management in its
internal consulting and advisory role to promote effective risk
management, internal controls and governance best practices.
ARC holds private discussions with the IA department and
external auditors without the presence of the management to
discuss any sensitive issues arising from their work at least once
a year.
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WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY

MINDS has a whistle blowing policy for internal staff and external
stakeholders to highlight their concerns in relation to all forms of
unlawful conduct, financial malpractice, danger to the public, etc.
Whistle blowing reports are channelled to CEO with the Audit &
Risk Committee Chairman in copy. If the report involves the CEO,
it will be channelled to the Honorary Secretary. The email address
and contact number are made available on MINDS’ corporate
website. All whistle blowing reports will be treated with strictest
confidentiality, promptly investigated and reported to the Exco.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Exco adopted the policy of declaration by the Exco members
and Senior Management staff of any personal interests that
may affect the integrity, fairness and accountability to MINDS.
When a situation arises where there is a conflict of interest, the
member or staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion,
decision making and voting on the matter. Exco, sub-committee
members and senior management has signed a declaration to
acknowledge the conflict of interest policy. A conflict of interest
clause is also included in each staff’s employment terms and
conditions.

TRANSPARENCY

MINDS uploads its Governance Evaluation Checklist from
the Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of a
Public Character, a yearly summary of its financial information
and copies of MINDS Annual Report in the Charity Portal and
on MINDS’ website for access by members of the public. In
addition to disclosing whether MINDS has complied with each
requirement under the checklist, MINDS has further elaborated
on how it has complied.

FINANCIAL AND BUDGETING

Budgeting exercise for each department, centre or school
is conducted before the beginning of the financial year and
approved by the Exco. Monthly financial reports are generated
by the Finance Department and circulated to all Head of
Departments or Directors to monitor their actual spending
against budget. Quarterly budget reviews are also conducted to
explain any variance. Financial results are reported to the Exco as
well. MINDS has a proper chart of authority for seeking approval
for procurement and payment, which is approved by the Exco.

REMUNERATION POLICIES

All members of the Exco are volunteers and do not receive
any remuneration. To avoid potential conflict of interest when
determining the remuneration of key management staff
within MINDS, there is a formal and transparent procedure for
determining key management personnel’s remuneration by
the Remuneration Committee (RC). No Director is involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration. All members of the RC
are non-executive directors.

OTHER PRACTICES

MINDS does not provide any loan to staff or external party. It also
does not make any cash donations to external party.

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

INTRODUCTION

During the financial year 2016/2017, the Exco expanded the role
of Audit Committee (AC) to include operational risk management
and the committee was renamed as Audit & Risk (AR) Committee.
A risk management function, covering operational and clinical
risks, will be created under the Deputy CEO’s portfolio. The AR
Committee continues to oversee internal controls and the results
of internal audit (IA) work on behalf of the Exco.
The Terms of Reference are revised as follows:

Responsibilities
The main responsibilities of the committee include:
•
•
•

Authority
The Audit & Risk Committee has the delegated authority from the
Exco on the following:

•
•

•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within
its Terms of Reference
Review the appointment and fees of the external auditor
Approve all auditing and non-audit services provided by
Internal Audit
Engage independent counsel, accountants, or others
to advise the committee or assist in the conduct of an
investigation
Seek any information it requires from employees (all of whom
are directed to cooperate with the committee’s requests) or
external parties
Meet with staff, external auditors, or outside counsel, as
necessary

Purpose
To support the Exco in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for
the financial reporting process, operational risk management
process the system of internal control, the audit process, and
the MINDS’ process for monitoring compliance with laws and
regulations and the code of conduct, in furtherance of the
MINDS’ vision, mission and objectives and the outcomes as may
be agreed with the statutory funding and policies bodies.

Reviewing the annual reports and financial statements
Reviewing and ensuring the adequacy & effectiveness of
internal controls and report non-compliance issues on a
timely basis to the Exco
Reviewing and ensuring the adequacy & effectiveness of
operational risk management, particularly on the safety and
well-being of clients and staff
Ensuring effectiveness & adequacy of internal audit function
Reviewing the scope, results of the statutory audit, its
cost effectiveness, the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors
Reviewing the adequacy of compliance on regulatory matters
Overseeing special investigations when required by Exco
Performing other relevant activities for the proper discharge
of duties listed in this Terms of Reference

Composition
The AR Committee shall consist of at least three
members, all non-executive and independent. At least
one member should have accounting or related financial
management experience. The Chairman of the AR Committee
should not be the President, Treasurer or FI Committee
Chairman of MINDS and should not be heading other SubCommittees of the Exco.
Meetings
The committee shall meet at least four times a year, which includes
the statutory audit kick-off and closing meetings, and convene
additional meetings if the need arises. All committee members
are expected to attend each meeting, in person or via tele- or
video-conference. The quorum for the meeting shall be at least 2
members, of which one has to be either the AR Chairman or ViceChairman. The committee will invite members of management,
auditors or others to attend meetings and provide pertinent
information, as necessary.

annual report 2016/2017
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GOVERNANCE EVALUATION
CHECKLIST FOR ADVANCED TIER
S/N

Code
Description

Code ID

Please provide explanation if your charity
Compliance is unable to comply with the Code guidelines,
or if the guidelines are non-applicable.

BOARD GOVERNANCE
1

Are there Board members holding staff
appointments?
Remarks: (Skip questions 2 and 3 if “No”)

4

There is a maximum term limit of four
consecutive years for the Treasurer
position (or equivalent, e.g. Finance
Committee Chairman).

A

No

Neither are there staff holding Board appointments.

1.1.6

Complied

MINDS’ Constitution states that the Honorary
Treasurer shall serve no more than two consecutive
terms. Further re-appointment to the Honorary
Treasurer position shall be allowed after a lapse of
at least one financial year.
We are in the process of amending the Constitution
to limit the term of the President to three consecutive
terms, and allowing re-election after a lapse of at
least one-term.

5

The Board conducts regular
self-evaluation to assess its performance
and effectiveness.

1.1.10

Complied

MINDS’ Board undertakes periodic self-evalutaion
on its effectiveness since 2009. Three self-evaluations
have been conducted so far in 2009, 2011, 2016.

6

There are Board committees (or
designated Board members) with
document terms of reference.

1.2.1

Complied

MINDS has 10 Sub-Committees, each with its Terms
of Reference approved by the Board.

The Board meets regularly with a quorum
of at least one-third or at least three
members whichever is greeted (or as
required by the governing instrument).

1.3.1

7

Each Sub-Committee comprises at least two elected/
co-opted Board members. Other members of the
Sub-Committee have to be approved by the Board.
Complied

Although MINDS’ Constitution stipulates Board
Meetings to be held at least once every two months,
the Board meets every month when possible, except
for June 2016, September 2016, and December
2016.
According to the Constitution, five members shall
form a quorum, one of whom shall be the President,
Vice-President or Honorary Secretary.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
8

There are documented procedures for
Board members and staff to declare
actual or potential conflicts of interest
to the Board.

2.1

Complied

Board members and Senior Management staff are
required to declare potential conflicts of interest
annually in the Conflict of Interest Declaration
Form. They shall abstain from participating in the
discussion, decision making and voting on the
matter.  
Other staff are required to declare conflicts of interest
when the situation arises, as required in their terms
and conditions of employment.

9

Board members do not vote or participate
in decision-making on matters where they
have a conflict of interest.

2.4

Complied

All Board members are prohibited from any business
dealings and contracts with MINDS.  
A Board member with a declared conflict of interest
is not allowed to vote or participate in decision
making on the matter.

STRATEGIC PLANNING
10

14

The Board reviews and approves the
vision and mission of the charity.
They are documented and communicated
to its members and the public.

3.1.1

Complied

The review is carried out periodically. The vision
and mission are published on MINDS’ website
(http://www.minds.org.sg) as well as in the
Annual Report.
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GOVERNANCE EVALUATION
CHECKLIST FOR ADVANCED TIER
S/N
11

Code
Description
The Board approves and reviews a
strategic plan for the charity to ensure that
the activities are in line with its objectives

Code ID
3.2.2

Please provide explanation if your charity
Compliance is unable to comply with the Code guidelines,
or if the guidelines are non-applicable.
Complied

Strategic directions/plan are proposed by
management and endorsed by the Board.

Complied

HR policies for staff are proposed by management,
reviewed, and endorsed by the HR Committee and
approved by the Board.  

HUMAN RESOURCE (HR) MANAGEMENT
12

The Board approves documented human
resource policies for staff.

5.1

Once approved, briefings are conducted for all
Heads of Department before effecting the policies.
13

There are systems for regular supervision,
appraisal and professional development
of staff.

5.6

Complied

Annual appraisal and training road maps and plans
are in place for all staff. Open appraisals are carried
out at the end of each year where staff performance
will be discussed and graded.  Each staff also has
a budget of 40 training hours per year.  MINDS
encourages its staff to attend both inhouse and
external training.  It utilises an e-system to track staff
training hours.

14

There is a system to address grievances
and resolve conflicts.

5.11

Complied

Staff Grievance Procedure is documented within the
Collective Agreement with the Union.

Complied

Documented policies and procedures such as
authorisation limits, procurement, and payment are
endorsed by the Finance and Investment Committee
and approved by the Board.  

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND CONTROLS
15

The Board ensures internal control
systems for financial matters are in
place with documented procedures.

6.1.2

Once approved, briefings are conducted for all
Heads of Department before effecting the policies.
The policies and procedures are also uploaded
into MINDS Intranet for reference by staff.
16

The Board ensures reviews on the charity’s
controls, processes, key programmes and
events.

6.1.3

Complied

The reviews are carried out by the various
sub-committees of the Board, such as the Sector
Committees, Finance and Investment Committee,
and HR Committee, and reported to the Board.
In addition, the Audit & Risk Committee maintains
independent oversight on the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls through the internal audits.

17

The Board approves an annual budget for
the charity’s plans and regularly monitors
its expenditure.

6.2.1

Complied

The Sector Committees are responsible for reviewing,
endorsing, and monitoring of the annual budget.
The annual budget is then further reviewed by the
Finance and Investment Committee and approved
by the Board.
Quarterly budget reviews are conducted for both
the schools and the adult sector.

18

The charity discloses its reserves policy in
the annual report.

19

Does the charity invest its reserves?
Remarks: (Skip question 20 if “No”)

6.4.1

Complied

B

Yes
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Reserves policy is disclosed in MINDS’ Annual Report.
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GOVERNANCE EVALUATION
CHECKLIST FOR ADVANCED TIER
S/N
20

Code
Description

Code ID

The charity invests its reserves in
accordance with an investment policy
approved by the Board. It obtains advice
from qualified professional advisors, if
deemed necessary by the Board.

Please provide explanation if your charity
Compliance is unable to comply with the Code guidelines,
or if the guidelines are non-applicable.

6.4.4

Complied

Reserves are invested in bonds and Fixed Deposits
(FDs) according to Board-approved Investment
Policy. A quorum of three out of five members of the
Finance and Investment Committee (FIC) will approve
investments in permitted types of S$ denominated
assets, including Singapore Government securities,
Singapore Government-related entities bonds, and
approved corporate bonds in Singapore. FDs are
allowed only for Qualifying Full Banks licensed by
MAS. It also limits funds concentration in single
issuer/corporate and the percentage of bonds
purchased.  

7.2.2

Complied

All donations are acknowledged with a Thank You
letter, together with a receipt. In addition, donations
received are recorded and tracked under their
respective purposes. Donations are reported
monthly to the Board.

8.1

Complied

An Annual Report, including the audited Financial
Statements, is published yearly. Other than
distributing the hard copy, it is also available on
MINDS’ website.

FUNDRAISING POLICIES
21

Donations collected are properly
recorded and promptly deposited by
the charity.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY
22

The charity makes available to its
stakeholders an annual report that
includes information on its programmes,
activities, audited financial statements,
Board members and executive
management.

23

Are Board members remunerated for their
Board services?  
Remarks: (Skip questions 24 and 25
if “No”)

C

No

26

Does the charity employ paid staff?
Remarks: (Skip questions 27 and 28
if “No”)

D

Yes

27

No staff is involved in setting his or her
own remuneration

2.2

Complied

No Board member is paid for his/her service.

MINDS follows very closely the salary scales provided
by National Council of Social Service (NCSS). Where
deviations are necessary, they are reviewed by the HR
Committee and endorsed by the Board.
Salaries of the CEO and Senior Management are
reviewed and approved by the Remuneration
Committee, which is chaired by the MINDS President
with members from the Exco.

28

The charity discloses in its annual report
the annual remuneration of its three
highest paid staff who each receives
remuneration exceeding $100,000. If
none of its top three highest paid staff
receives more than $100,000 in annual
remuneration each, the charity discloses
this fact.

8.3

Complied

The annual remuneration of the highest paid staff
is disclosed in MINDS’ Annual Report in bands
of $50,000, which consists of eight persons.

9.1

Complied

MINDS’ vision, mission, values, programmes and
activities are contained in the Annual Report which
is distributed to key stakeholders. In addition, such
information are also available on MINDS’ website.

PUBLIC IMAGE
29

16

The charity accurately portrays its image
to its members, donors and the public.
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SERVICE
MAP
SCHOOLS & ADULT SERVICES

SPECIAL EDUCATION SCHOOLS
(SPED)
Age 7 to 18

Total Enrolment: 815

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT CENTRES
(EDC)

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT CENTRES
(TDC)

Age 18 & above

OPEN
EMPLOYMENT

No. of clients in Open
Employment: 39
No. of Employment
Placements: 153

Age 18 & above

Total number of clients: 364
Full-time: 247
Part-time: 117

SHELTERED
WORKSHOP

No. of clients in Sheltered
Workshops: 723

CAREGIVERS SUPPORT
SERVICES

SOCIAL
ENTERPRISE

No. of clients in MINDS
Social Enterprises: 280

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
No. of Home Residents: 121
No. of Hostel/Group Home Residents: 54
No. of Children's Wing Residents: 19
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ENCLAVE

No. of clients in Enclave: 20

HOME-BASED CARE
SERVICES
No. of Residents under
Home-Based Care: 17
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SPECIAL EDUCATION
SCHOOLS
INTRODUCTION
The 4 Special Education (SPED) Schools serve the
educational needs of children (age 7 to 18) with
moderate to severe Intellectual Disability (ID) and
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Our schools offer
three programmes — Junior (7 to 12 years), Senior
(13 to 18 years) and Special (7 to 18 years). The
programmes cater to their different special learning
needs aimed to equip them with functional and
academic skills to participate as fully as possible
in society.

STUDENT ENROLMENTS
as at 1 April 2017

Fernvale
Gardens School
(FGS)

Lee Kong Chian
Gardens School
(LGS)

Towner
Gardens School
(TGS)

Woodlands
Gardens School
(WGS)

Total

ID

140

176

162

189

667

ASD

41

26

38

43

148

Total

181

202

200

232

815

School

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

STUDENT ACHIEVEMENTS

2016 Graduates’ Employment Placements / Work Attachments

School: FGS
JOANNA SEOW
Nature of Employment

Employed at Swensen’s Restaurant as
a Service Crew where she attended to
customers, prepared cutlery sets, took
orders and served food and drinks.
School: FGS
BRYAN NG
Work Attachment

Attached to the housekeeping department
at Holiday Inn Orchard City Centre under
a six-month training programme.
School: FGS
CLASS AMETHYST 4A
Work Attachment

The students were attached to Yeap
Medical, a medical supplier, where they
were trained to pack first-aid boxes
according to industrial requirements.

School: FGS
JOANNA SEOW
ONG JUN HAN
Work Attachment

The students were attached to Gavin’s
Tuition, an enrichment centre, where they
learned to perform administrative work
such as filing, stamping, photocopying
and preparing workbooks.
School: FGS
NGIAN WEE XHUAN
MUHD ZULHAIRRUDIN
Work Attachment

The students were attached to Super
Pets, a cat food retailer, where they were
trained to do retail work such as stocking
up on inventory, arranging the inventory
and wiping shelves.
School: FGS
SOH LI NING
NGIAN WEE XHUAN
Work Attachment

The students were attached to The
Learning Connections Pte Ltd, a social
enterprise offering art education to
children, where the students learned to
perform administrative work, such as
preparing materials for the workshops.
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School: LGS
CLASS S3
CLASS S4
Work Attachment

The selected students were attached at
Equal Ark, an organisation that provides
activity-based education programmes
through equine or other animal-assisted
learning where they are trained in the
cleaning of stables, grooming of horses
and taking the horses for their daily
exercise.  
School: LGS
NURUL SYAFIQAH BTE ROSMAN
NUR FARAHNISHA BTE SAHLAN
LIM DAO LIANG
Work Attachment

The students were attached to the
housekeeping department at Pan Pacific
Service Suites for a day to experience the
job requirements and expectations.  

SPECIAL EDUCATION
SCHOOLS

FGS student, Joanna Seow packing the medical
supplies at Yeap Medical

School: LGS
BULOSAN PAULO GABRIEL
THOR WAN LING
AMIRUL HIDAYAT BIN SURATMAN
TIEN ZHI YU
Work Attachment

The students were attached to the Retail
Department at Giant Singapore for a day
where they learned to pack fruits, stack
products and arrange them according to
their expiry dates.  
School: LGS
CLASS S3
CLASS S4
Work Attachment

The students were attached to Central
Laundry Singapore for a period of seven
to 12 days in which they were trained
in operating the laundry machines and
folding the clothes.
School: LGS
CLASS S4
Work Attachment

The students were attached to two outlets
of McDonald’s Singapore for a period of
eight days where they were trained to do
lobby cleaning, clearing trays, cleaning
tables, etc.  
School: LGS
LEE DE CHUN
NUR FARAHNISHA BTE SAHLAN
CHENG CHANG JING
NURUL SYAFIQAH BTE ROSMAN
Work Attachment

Four students were attached to Radha
Exports, a   retailer providing fast moving
consumer products to consumers, where
they were trained in warehouse performing
tasks such as packing, wrapping and
performing simple quality-control work.
School: LGS
TENG SOK SIN
Nature of Employment

LGS student, Teng Sok Sin setting the table for
the next customer at a Pizza Hut outlet

School: LGS
CAI CHENXI, ALLAN
Nature of Employment

Secured internship and subsequently
was gainfully employed by WE Social
Enterprise.  
School: LGS
DAWSON TAN SIONG CHUAN
Nature of Employment

Secured Internship at Astoria Dry Laundry.   

Justin Lim on work attachment at
Shangri-La Hotel

School: TGS
GOH KINGSTON
Work Attachment

Kingston was previously attached to SM
Laundry and Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen.
He is currently advancing his education at
Mountbatten Vocational School.
School: TGS
NURULAIN BTE MOHD YASIN
Work Attachment

School: LGS
BULOSAN PAULO GABRIEL
Nature of Employment

Nurulain was previously attached to
Shangri-La Hotel Singapore and Popeyes
Louisiana Kitchen. She is currently
advancing her education at Mountbatten
Vocational School.

School: TGS
LIM WEI HONG, JUSTIN
Work Attachment

School: TGS
MUHD NABIL B MOHD NASHARUDIN
RAINER LIGOURI KHOO YOW
Work Attachment

Secured internship at WE Social Enterprise.

Justin was previously attached to work at
various Food & Beverage (F&B) restaurants
such as Han’s Kitchen, Shangri-La Hotel
Singapore, McDonald’s restaurants and
Fish & Co. Restaurants Pte Ltd. His wealth
of experience has enabled him to be
gainfully employed at RMA Contracts.
School: TGS
TAN RUI, RAY
Work Attachment

Ray was previously attached to SM
Laundry, Shangri-La Hotel Singapore,
McDonald’s Singapore and Popeyes
Louisiana Kitchen. He is currently gainfully
employed at Chic-A-Boo Fried Chicken.
School: TGS
GOH GUO DONG, SAMUEL
Work Attachment

Samuel was previously attached to SM
Laundry, Shangri-La Hotel Singapore
and McDonald’s Restaurant. Currently,
he is employed as a part-time crew in
McDonald’s Restaurants at its Siglap
outlet.

Secured internship and subsequently
was gainfully employed by Pizza Hut
Restaurants to work at its Westgate outlet.
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These two students are currently
advancing their education at Mountbatten
Vocational School.
School: TGS
MUHD FARHAN B. MOHD HARDI
Work Attachment

Attached to Shangri-La Hotel, Singapore
and Fish & Co. restaurants.
School: TGS
TEO RUI SIN
Work Attachment

Attached to SM Laundry, supporting the
main crew in general laundry work.
School: WGS
SOH JUN WEI SEAN
SUWARNA NAAIDU
CHENG CHING KANG
Work Attachment

Three graduands were successfully placed
in the School-To-Work (S2W) Programme
that was piloted with SG Enable. They
are currently undergoing training in the
“Project IN”, a programme where students
undergo a two-month orientation and
nine-month internship with an employer.
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SPECIAL EDUCATION
SCHOOLS
STUDENT ACHIEVEMENTS

2016 Graduates’ Sporting Achievements
School: FGS
FOO WEI XIN
ANG KAI LIN
KEVIN TAN
MD FIRDAUS
Achievements

School: LGS
CHENG CHANG JING
Achievements

Participated in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition 2016.
School: LGS
GLENNIS CHEN WENTING
Achievements

Attained Gold in the 7th National Special
Schools Track & Field Championships
2016 in the 60m Dash Junior Girls Division.
Attained Bronze at the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition in the
Open Mixed Youth Category.  
School: LGS
MUHAMMED DANIEL BIN ABDULLAH
Achievements

Attained Silver in the 7th National Special
Schools Track & Field Championships 2016
in the 60m Dash Junior Boys Division.
Attained Silver in the Special Olympics
Singapore Badminton Competition 2016.
School: LGS
DIMAN BIN MAMAT
Achievements

Attained Bronze in the 7th National Special
Schools Track & Field Championships
2016 in the 60m Dash Junior Boys Division
Attained
Bronze
at
Olympics
Singapore
Competition 2016.

the
Special
Badminton

School: LGS
LIM DAO LIANG
Achievements

School: TGS
SHASWAT KESARWANI
Achievements

Attained Silver in the 7th National Special
Schools Track & Field Championships 2016
in the 60m Dash Senior Boys Division.

Attained Gold in the 7th National Special
Schools Swimming Championship in the
50m Freestyle Category.

School: LGS
ABELINDE DAVE BURGOS
Achievements

School: TGS
GAN SI MING, JASON
Achievements

Attained Gold in the Special Olympics
Singapore Badminton Competition 2016.
School: TGS
MUHD ASRAF NIZAM B. MOHD ALI
MUHD FARHAN B. MOHD HARDI
Achievements

Attained Gold in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition in the
Senior Team Category.
School: TGS
NURUL AIN BTE SALUDEN
GOH GUO REN, SHAWN
Achievements

Attained Bronze in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition in the
Senior Team Category.
School: TGS
GOH GUO DONG, SAMUEL
Achievements

Attained Silver in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition in the
Senior Individual Category.
School: TGS
NURUL YUNISHARA BTE SUDERMAN
Achievements

Attained Silver in the 7th National Special
Schools Swimming Championship in the
50m Freestyle.
School: WGS
TAN WANG ZHI
Achievements

Attained Bronze in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition 2016.  
School: WGS
MUHAMMAD ASYRAF BIN ABU ZARIM
Achievements

Attained Gold in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition 2016.
School: WGS
TAN CHIN RONG
Achievements

Attained Bronze in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition 2016.
School: WGS
NURUL AISHA BTE MAZLAN
Achievements

Attained Silver in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bocce Competition 2016.
School: WGS
HANNAH AGRABIO
Achievements

Attained Bronze in the Special Olympics
Badminton Competition in the Beginner
Special Olympics Badminton Competition
in the Beginner Category.  

Attained Bronze in the Special Olympics
Singapore Bowling Competition 2016.

Yunishara and Muhd Danial from TGS with their
friends who specially came down to support
them in the Special Olympics Singapore
Badminton Competition 2016

One of the winners from WGS in the Bocce
Competition during Special Olympics 2016

Attained Gold in the 7th National Special
Schools Track & Field Championships 2016
in the 60m dash Senior Boys Division.

Abelinde Dave Burgos from LGS won a
gold medal in Special Olympics Singapore
Badminton Competition 2016
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SPECIAL EDUCATION
SCHOOLS
STUDENT ACHIEVEMENTS

2016 Graduates’ Aesthetics Achievements
School: FGS
MOHD AMMAN BIN RAMLAN
MUHAMMAD AFIQ BIN JAMIL
CHEN ZHI HAO
Achievements

The entries were selected for exhibition at
Forum The Shopping Mall.
School: FGS
SPANISH DANCE
Achievements

Performed at the Singapore Press
Holdings – School Pocket Money Fund
event on 7 October 2016.
School: FGS
FGS MODERN DANCE COMPANY
Achievements

Performed “Candyman” at Teck Ghee
Project I Launch with Youthcorps.
School: FGS
FGS MODERN DANCE COMPANY
Achievements

Collaborated with Fernvale Primary
School and performed at the Singapore
Youth Festival — “Youthforia” on 9 July
2016.  
School: FGS, LGS, TGS, and WGS
MINDS SPED SCHOOLS
PERFORMANCE
Achievements

All 4 schools came together to perform “A
Dance of Joy” at SPED Conference 2016
by Ministry of Education (MOE).
School: FGS
FGS MODERN DANCE COMPANY
Achievements

Performed at the “One Community
Fiesta” organised by Punggol GRC on 19
November 2016.

School: LGS
ONG XIN MIN
AMIER NURASYID BIN ZAINAL
CHONG SI EN JOASH MATTHIAS
FAIZA FARVANA
Achievements

The entries were selected for display at
The Arts House during Singapore Youth
Festival Art Exhibition 2016.
School: LGS
CHUA CHEE HON
PEK LING FEI
Achievements

Won Merit Award at the VSA 14th Annual
Art Competition in the Child Category.

School: TGS
NELISIA TAN ZHI QI
Achievements

Won Merit Award for her work “Dream
On” at the VSA Competition in the Youth
Category.
School: TGS
MEGAN FOO QIAO WEI
Achievements

Emerged as Overall winner at The
Children’s Charities Association Art
Competition 2016.
School: TGS
ARSHIYYA FATIMA D/O SHAHUL
Achievements

School: LGS
ONG XIN MIN
CHEN YUNG LOK BRENDON
Achievements

Emerged as winner at The Children’s
Charities Association Art Competition in
the MINDS Category.

School: LGS
LGS SUPER TROUPER CHOIR
Achievements

Emerged as Overall winner at the
Singapore Youth Festival “Youth HeARTS!”
Theme Motif Design Contest 2016.

The entries were selected for print on the
collaterals of SPED Conference 2016.

Presented two songs at the “Welcome to
My World”, an annual concert by people
with disabilities organised by Very Special
Arts Singapore (VSA). In the finale song,
the choir sang with other performers
“Together We Make the World” with one
of the LGS student performing a solo
during finale.
School: LGS
NUR FARAHNISHA BINTE SAHLAN
ABELINDE DAVE BURGOS
LOK HUI XUAN
NUR AQID SHAHRUDIN BIN DAUD
MUHAMMAD DANIEL BIN ABDULLAH
NURUL SYAFIQAH BTE ROSMAN
NURAIN FATIN FAKHIRAH BTE MOHD
SAPUAN
LEANE PAULA JATULAN
Achievements

School: TGS
FILDZAH HANANI BTE ABDUL MALIK
Achievements

School: TGS
KOOL KIDZ
Achievements

Performed at Republic of Singapore
Air Force Paya Lebar Air Base Open
House 2016, National Day Observance
Ceremony at Kembangan Community
Club, SPED Conference 2016 by MOE,
and StarHub Townhall event and MINDS
Concert 2016.
School: WGS
WGS PERFORMING ARTS
Achievements

Performed at Religious Rehabilitation
Group Retreat for Ministry of Home Affairs
held at Orchid Country Club.

Performed in a combined choir with
3 other SPED schools during SPED
Conference 2016 by MOE.

FGS Spanish Gypsy Dance Group all geared
to perform at the SPH School Pocket Money
Fund 2016

The artwork “Green Box”, created by
LGS Visual Arts students, was displayed at the
Arts House
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TGS Kool Kidz performing at RSAF Paya Lebar
Air Base Open House 2016
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2016 PROFESSIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS
Environmental Awards
Recognised for their exemplary environmental practices, MINDS’ four schools have received the following awards:  
Award
SINGAPORE ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL (SEC)STARHUB SCHOOL GREEN AWARDS: LOTUS AWARD
Criteria

Schools with an overall score of 95% and above will
receive the Lotus Award.
The school must show evidence of both of the following:
•
•

showcased at least one innovative environmental
project; and,
participated in an external activity to promote
Singapore’s sustainability

Winners

Award
NATIONAL PARK:
COMMUNITY IN BLOOM AWARDS
Criteria

Recognises and rewards gardening efforts of Singapore’s
gardening groups, the award is conferred based on the
following criteria:
• Level of Community Involvement
• Garden Quality
• Environmental & Biodiversity Quality
Winners

FGS: Gold; LGS: Silver; TGS: Silver

FGS, LGS, TGS, WGS
Friends of Singa Award
WGS was awarded the Friends of Singa Award from Singapore
Kindness Movement for the initiatives the students had carried
out in the school and community throughout the year. On top
of this, WGS was also awarded with the Write of Kindness and
Kindness Award during the ceremony.
Frank Cooper Sands Award
The Frank Cooper Sands Award is an annual award in honour
of the Father of Scouting to sectional scout units based on their
unit’s progress and achievements. MINDS schools have achieved
the following awards:
TGS : Gold Award
LGS : Silver Award
WGS : Bronze Award

STAFF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
At TGS, the garden is designed where the plants are strategically planted
to enhance the students’ five senses. The garden is built to encourage the
students to explore their environment with their senses

Culinary Award
Nur Farahnisha and Nurul Syafiqah represented MINDS LGS
and won the Best Nutritional Award for their LGS Club Sandwich
which they made with egg, toast, bacon, tomatoes, lettuce, and
mayonnaise at the “Inter-Specialised / SPED Schools Culinary
Challenge 2016”. The challenge was organised by APSN Delta
Senior School, Singapore Junior Chefs Club and Singapore
Chefs Association to showcase the students’ knowledge and
expertise in culinary arts.
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Universal Design for Learning (UDL) Training
12 teachers from LGS and TGS attended the UDL Applied
Training, a pedagogy framework that provides a set of guidelines
for developing flexible and engaging instructions and lessons to
address the needs of a range of learners.  
Transition Planning Workshop
The teaching and Allied Health Professional staff from LGS
attended a three-hour talk on “Transition from School to
Adulthood for Students with Disabilities” by Dr Vivienne Riches,
registered psychologist and Senior Research Fellow at the
Centre for Disability Studies, Sydney Medical School, University
of Sydney. In addition, 10 staff also attended a two-day workshop
on “Transition Planning and Curriculum Training”.

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
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PROFESSIONAL INITIATIVES

Buddy-Reading Programme

Class for Students with ASD

FGS launched the buddy-reading
programme with Fernvale Primary School
on 21 March 2017, which coincided with
World Down Syndrome Day. The new
reading programme enabled students
from FGS to improve their literacy skills
as students from Fernvale Primary School
would read to them aloud at their library.
The library also contains a set of books
supplied by FGS. On top of this, both
schools are linked via a physical gate,
dubbed the “Friendship Gate”, to facilitate
easier access between students from
both schools.

FGS set up a specialised classroom for
students with ASD, offering a structured
environment and a routine schedule for
the students. The class explored the use
of visuals and work systems to maximise
their learning potential and allow them to
thrive in an environment comfortable for
them. The “Autism Friendly Classroom”
was officially opened in 22 April 2017.

Advancing Skills Using Assistive
Technology
Through collaboration with Republic
Polytechnic, the students from the
Senior Level used automated assistive
technology to acquire vocational skills.
The students from Republic Polytechnic
came up with interactive software where
an avatar acts as a teacher and guided
the students through the learning process
using simple cues and instructions. The
device also trained the students with
basic packing skills by using one-to-one
corresponding matching process (in
which students learn to match identical
objects together) and following the
audio and visual cues accordingly. This
would enable students to identify similar
products better and pack them together
efficiently.

“Superhero Me” Art Programme

Spanish Gypsy Dance Programme
FGS launched the first-ever Spanish
Gypsy Dance Programme under the NAC
Art Education Programme where the
students learnt to perform the flamenco,
a traditional form of Spanish dance. The
traditional flamenco dance not only
requires intricate footwork but also
precise coordination. The Spanish dance
was performed on several occasions such
as the Purple Parade 2016, Straits Times
School Money Fund event 2016 and
MINDS Concert 2016.

The visual arts students from LGS
participated in an art workshop where
they learnt to make their very own
superhero costumes. Apart from that, two
of the visual arts students acted in a skit
centred on the schools values — Strength
of character, Mutual Respect, Integrity,
Lifelong Learning, and Excellence. The skit
was recorded at school and showcased at
the Objectifs Photograph Centre. Through
that experience, the students were able to
build and live their self-confidence and
reinforce the school values they learned.
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Big “L” Cafe at Enabling Village
LGS
initiated
a
two-day
special
programme conducted at the Enabling
Village where students from the Senior
Level classes learned to operate a café
outside of school, selling finger food such
as sandwiches, fruits, pizzas, and cakes.
Through this initiative, the students were
able to showcase their F&B skills and food
hygiene skills as they served customers,
prepared food and even performed
cashier duties.
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Team ASD @ TGS

School to Work (S2W) Programme

WGS Greening School for Biodiversity

Team ASD @ TGS was launched in 2016
to implement and expand the use of
structured teaching in TGS for special
classes. Comprising two senior teachers
and eight teachers, the team would share
knowledge and experience with other
teachers through bi-weekly meetings to
exchange ideas and support one another
on the implementation. A chat group was
also created to share successful strategies
and practices for ASD teaching among
the team.

Since the School to Work Programme was
extended to other SPED schools, eight
students from TGS have been referred to
SG Enable for the S2W Programme where
students are guided and supported
to move to different employment and
training pathways as part of their transition
to work. A collaboration by SG Enable
with the Ministry of Social and Family
Development (MSF), MOE and selected
SPED schools, the S2W Programme offers
customised training pathways and work
options for students with diverse disability
profiles who have the potential to work.

WGS embarked on the “Greening School
for Biodiversity” movement in a bid
to create biodiversity to enhance the
learning environment of the students,
creating a school within a garden.
Through a series of collaborations with
National Parks Board (NParks) as well as
Roots and Shoots, WGS did an overhaul
to its garden, and planted a diverse
range of native plants to attract a variety
of birds and butterflies, creating a natural
habitat for the flora and fauna. With the
introduction of biodiversity at such close
proximity, the students not only learn
about the plants and animals outside of
the confines of a classroom, they also
learn to care for the plants with their two
hands, thus acquiring gardening skills. On
top of this, WGS also observed Earth Day
and Save Water Day to remind students
the importance of these natural resources.

Colours of Life @ WGS

PAPA Reading Programme

WGS launched “Colours of Life @ WGS”,
a framework that enables teachers to
keep track of the learning milestones of
students by providing a comprehensive
view of the programmes and activities the
students have endeavoured. Some of the
programmes the school has embarked
thus far include S2W Programme,
Life Fitness, Arts Culture and more.
The initiative was launched on 16
November 2016 with Mr Jeffrey Tan,
MINDS President; Mr Robin Chua, MINDS
Vice-President and Mr Keh Eng Song,
MINDS CEO in attendance.

WGS launched a “Pupil And PArent
(PAPA) Reading” programme that aims to
inculcate reading habits in the students.
The parents would receive books sent to
their residences where they would read
the books with their children during their
leisure time. At the end of each semester,
parents would return the books where the
teaching staff would inquire more on the
student’s progress.

Universal Design for Learning (UDL)
In early 2017, TGS implemented the UDL
framework at school level, a teaching
pedagogy that designs and plans
curricula that enables students of different
learning pace to acquire knowledge, skills
and develop enthusiasm. The teachers
had planned their lessons based on
the guidelines and principles of UDL
to reduce barriers, optimise levels of
challenge and support and meet the
needs of all learners. Through UDL
training sessions organised by the Special
Education Branch of Ministry of Education
(MOE), the teachers were trained to write
lesson plans based on the principles of
the UDL framework and observe how
lessons are being conducted. Since the
implementation of UDL, the teachers
have come together by programme level
to share on the progress of their lesson
implementation fortnightly.
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EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT

INTRODUCTION
The Social Enterprise & Employment Development (SEED)
committee provides care, training and employment opportunities
for our clients with the aim of promoting social and economic
integration of adults with intellectual disabilities who are aged
18 years and above into gainful mainstream activities, so as to
enable them to lead independent lives.
SEED comprises of three programmes to give a wider range of
opportunities for clients with different capabilities. They are the
Sheltered Workshop (SW) and Social Enterprise programmes
(SE) to train, prepare and engage clients for suitable Open
Employment (OE), supported employment, and assisted
employment programmes. Selected clients are then placed under
Hi-Job!, a Job Placement and Job Support (JPJS) programme.
The terms of reference for SEED were revised to align the
various programmes driven by the EDCs. This led to better focus,
resulting in greater clarity in strategic directions.

In order to do so, MINDS collaborated with Community
Psychology Hub (CPH) to standardise and refine assessment tools
to profile and right-site clients into the appropriate vocational
and programme tracks. EDC Training Officers (TOs) were then
trained to utilise those tools such as Work Support Profile (WSP),
Client Assessment Form (CAF) and Beckers Work Adjustment
Profile-II Checklist.
We welcomed 54 MINDS graduands into MINDS’ EDCs in 2017.

Clients Muster and Staff Strength (as at 31 March 2017)
Centre

Clients

Staff

SIA-MINDS Employment
Development Centre (SMEDC)

379

50

Idea Employment Development
Centre (IEDC)

312

44

Woodlands Employment
Development Centre (WEDC)

332

49

1023

143

Total

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
In 2016, SEED continued to strengthen its outreach efforts to
elevate the visibility for MINDS Bakers, MINDS Perform and
MINDS Water. As a result, there was less reliance on contract work
and at the same time, prompted the EDCs to explore different
employment avenues such as Workability (placing and training
clients), work enclaves (training and placing clients), and assisted
employment models.

Under the Workability programme, clients learn food preparation skills

Workability Programme
‘Workability’ is a pilot programme by SG Enable which aims to
place and train clients into food and beverage (F&B) industries.
Clients completed six months of training in a central kitchen,
followed by six months of on-the-job training with the employer.
MINDS has successfully trained 20 clients, of which 15 of them
were offered employment contracts from companies such as
Social Food Inc., RJ Business Pte Ltd, and Samsui Supplies and
Services Pte Ltd.

annual report 2016/2017
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ENCLAVE

SEED Impact Report
Impact from the Growth of Social Enterprises
Social Enterprises continued to make headways in FY16.
The stellar performance was attributed largely of MINDS Water
and growth in sales of MINDS Bakers’ products. This is consistent
with the department’s strategic plan of being less reliant on
contract work and its move towards producing market driven
products and services.
The implicit impact on trainees as a direct result of the growth
of in-house Social Enterprises is expressed in the tables below.

Clients are hard at work folding homogenous pieces of laundry

Laundry Enclave
The new enclave hybrid programme started in October 2016
where 10 clients were employed by Smart Linen Solutions to
form a crew of Laundry Operators working in a laundromat. These
clients were given a fixed salary and also received contributions
to their Central Provident Fund (CPF) accounts. This was a
first-of-its-kind towards finding OE for clients who are otherwise
excluded from such opportunities due to their limited abilities in
traveling independently.
Their daily tasks include folding of towels, stacking, and tying them
into bundles. The work processes and tasks were assessed and
modified to capitalise on the clients’ strengths and capabilities.
Clients had also undergone work endurance training as the job
requires them to stand most of the time.
The Laundry Enclave team became a familiar presence in the
vicinity as they commute to the food court frequently. This  helped
to create awareness for persons with intellectual disability. Clients
were also able to put other skills to use such as practising basic
road safety, making informed choices when they purchase their
lunch, and behaving appropriately in public.

Table 1: Revenue Contribution by Segment
REVENUE CONTRIBUTION

1,230,978

1,165,169

FY15

Social Enterprises

1,525,011

1,136,960

FY16

Contract Work

Revenue from Social Enterprises, which are sale from our own good
and services, overtook revenue from Contract Work in FY16.
Table 2: Job Distribution by Segment
JOB DISTRIBUTION

811

646
281

216

FY15

Social Enterprises

FY16

Contract Work

More clients were engaged in Social Enterprise projects as a result
of good business performance. We aim to create more jobs in
this space.
Table 3: TPA Contribution by Segment
27%

73%

FY15
Social Enterprises

34%
66%

FY16
Contract Work

By FY16, Social Enterprises accounted for 34% of the TPA
contribution from 27% in FY15.

  A “we-fie” of the MINDS Laundry Enclave team!

26

Social Enterprise projects bring in higher-value work as
compared to contract work, continued to grow which
helped in the steady increase in total sales revenue earned
throughout the years. As a result, clients will receive a bonus
pay out in 2017 for their hard work and contribution to the
business’ success.
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MINDS SOCIAL ENTERPRISE UNITS

MINDS Perform drumming to the highpoint during the closing concert of
the Pyeongchang Special Music & Art Festival.
[Photo Source: Pyeongchang Special Music & Art Festival
평창 스페셜 뮤직 & 아트 페스티벌 Facebook]

A popular choice amongst customers is the customised
labels for MINDS Water  

MINDS Water
MINDS Water was officially launched in early 2016 and saw rapid
growth in sales, making up 10% of the revenue from in-house
products within a year. Our customers comprises of government
agencies, banks and voluntary welfare organisations, such as
AWWA, OCBC Bank, DBS Bank, Ministry of Finance, Marine &
Port Authority of Singapore and many other private companies
and individuals.

MINDS Perform was also invited by Special Olympics, Korea to
participate in the “Pyeongchang Special Music & Art Festival 2016”
at Alpensia Ski Resort. Musicians with special needs from all over
the world including Taiwan, Japan, Malaysia, Spain and France
showcased their musical talents on the international stage. The
workshop conducted at the festival enabled our clients to hone
their musical skills. More importantly, it provided an opportunity
to promote international friendship through music.

The unit started with MINDS’ generic labels and later evolved to
include customised labels to cater to different markets. Currently,
the unit engages 64 clients to paste stickers and labels on the
caps and bottles.  

Delectable  treats by MINDS Bakers

The entourage from MINDS who performed song signing segment
at the NDP 2016

MINDS Perform
Following the heels of the successful National Day Parade (NDP)
performance in 2014, MINDS students and clients performed
alongside clients from other voluntary welfare organisations.
This is the first time a song signing segment performed by
persons with special needs was featured in NDP, which is aimed
at highlighting the importance of an inclusive and caring nation.
MINDS Perform had the honour to participate in The Purple
Symphony, Singapore’s inaugural all-inclusive orchestra. The unit
also performed at The Purple Parade on 5 November 2016 to a
10,000 strong crowd.

MINDS Bakers
MINDS Bakers continues to see strong demand for its products
with a year-on-year revenue growth of 30%. Besides a strong
standing in the wedding market, there were also many largescale orders received from corporates such as Marina Bay Sands,
DBS Bank, OUE Limited, Singtel and National Computer System.
For Chinese New Year, a new product called “Cherry Glaciers”
was launched which became the best-selling product for the
season. The orders were closed just within two weeks from
the launch.
In view of the unit’s strong performance, MINDS Bakers would
be expanding its space and recruiting more clients. The team is
currently working with food consultants on the expansion plans.
With this, we hope to churn out more cookies for our customers.

annual report 2016/2017
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Using the cash register to perform monetary transactions
as the customer purchase food

MINDS Food clients are trained to portion the food
equally for user’s consumption

MINDS Food
MINDS Food provides a training ground to prepare clients for
OE in the F&B industry. The equipment in MINDS Food is similar
to those used in commercial settings. Clients also adhere to
strict hygiene standards and operating procedures, to better
equip them for placement. This year, 22 clients underwent and
successfully passed the WSQ Food Hygiene Course.

Some of the projects that MINDS Craft were involved include:

A snack counter was set up in IEDC, similar to the one in
SMEDC, where clients learn to sell items and handle monetary
transactions. This also enables other clients in the centre to learn
and to make informed decisions with their money.

2. Bosch Singapore ordered 650 photo frames that were
uniquely dotted by the clients for their dinner and dance door
gift in December 2016.

MINDS Craft
MINDS Craft saw another busy year, receiving several large
orders from corporate customers. These projects included the
making of more than 10,000 stalks of carnations for Boss Group’s
Mother’s Day Celebration and 650 hand-designed photo frames
for Bosch Singapore’s Dinner and Dance. Bain & Company also
engaged us to design a holiday card for them, featuring our
clients’ artwork.
Beyond its sales activities, MINDS Craft continues to serve an
important function of a therapy programme. Where possible,
we train clients in new skills or parts of a process, so that the
combined effort of several individuals are pieced together to
form a unique and beautiful art piece.

The lovely holiday card Mr Aldie, MINDS’ talented in-house artist
designed for Bain & Company
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1. Bain & Company engaged MINDS Craft to design a holiday
card for the year 2016, where Mr Aldie, MINDS’ in-house
artist worked together with the MINDS Craft team to design a
beautiful sandman. The innovative yet beautiful holiday card
received commendable remarks from the company.

MINDS Shop
In 2016, MINDS shops saw the expansion of the sorting
departments. TO would assist to improve the work processes
to enhance clients’ efficiency in sorting and storing pre-loved
items. As a result, the number of clients engaged in the backend
operations increased from 5 to 10 clients.
Clients were also trained to assist in the collection of corporate
donations, which provided an opportunity for them to work
together as a team in another environment.
MINDS Shop started distributing brochures in residents’
mailboxes to raise awareness of the thrift shop. Clients enjoyed
this new task tremendously as it provided them the opportunity
to practise their social skills, and the TO to reinforce road safety
skills. Through this initiative, besides more opportunities for
client engagement, there were also more donation inquiries and
contributions from members of the public, leading to increased
sales at the MINDS Shop.

The MINDS Shop works together as a team to sort and display the
merchandise for customers’ ease of browsing
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The clients are proud of their harvest, having put in their heart and soul to
caring for the vegetables

MINDS Farm
In November 2016, MINDS successfully built its first greenhouse
at IEDC. Under the professional guidance from the Agri-Food
& Veterinary Authority of Singapore (AVA), we successfully
harvested 30kg of Xiao Bai Cai in a month. The clients were
closely involved in the end-to-end farming process, which
involved sowing, transplanting, thinning and harvesting. Apart
from farming, the clients were trained to assemble benches
based on dimensions and quantity advised by AVA to hold trays
of vegetables. It was a satisfying experience for them as they
filled the soil, embedded the seeds, cut the roots, weighed and
packed them with their own hands. Many visitors who tasted the
vegetables gave rave reviews of them.

SPECIAL ACTIVITIES / EVENTS
Sports
MINDS takes a holistic approach to caring for its clients. Hence,
besides equipping our clients with relevant skills to gain
employment and be more independent, SEED also organises
various activities to ensure that our clients have a work-life
balance. Some of the activities include:
• Trainings
In collaboration with Central Singapore Community
Development Council (CDC) and Balestier Khalsa Football
Club, IEDC embarked on “Free Kicks Soccer Programme”, a
30-week soccer training programme where 20 clients learned
the skills and techniques of playing soccer. The soccer
programme aims to inculcate life skills such as teamwork
through sports in disadvantaged children and youths. Through
this programme, the clients developed a tight camaraderie
between the teammates and the coaches.
All EDCs also organised bowling lessons that not only
equipped the clients with basic skills, but also helped
to develop their potentials at competitions such as the
Special Olympics; learning resilience and determination in
the process.

EDC clients giving their best shot at various sports events

• EDC Challenge 2017
The annual EDC Challenge 2017 was held at Yishun Junior
College where clients from the three EDCs pitted their skills at
various events such as Shuttle Run, Netball and Futsal. Clients
trained for their respective sports event on a weekly basis to
enhance their physical fitness and endurance. This year, IEDC
emerged as the overall champion after achieving multiple
victories in athletics, netball and soccer.
• SATA Medical Screening
On 10 and 11 November 2016, MINDS Medicare and
Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) conducted a
basic health screening for the clients at SMEDC. The health
screening was conducted with the aim of providing early
detection and intervention for various health conditions,
leading to better prognosis and health for the clients. A total
of 165 clients underwent the screening, which included basic
blood test and chest X-ray. The results were given to the
caregivers in December 2016. Clients who showed medical
concerns were advised to seek follow-up consultation.

annual report 2016/2017
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• MINDS Concert 2016

• Recyclable T-Shirt Workshop on Mother’s Day

After rehearsing for more than six months, EDC clients dressed
to the nines and put together a special performance at the
MINDS Concert 2016 which was held on 15 October 2016.
IEDC clients played a Japanese-themed skit, performing
“Young Love” – depicting a young lady who followed the love
of her life despite him leaving for military training. WEDC
clients danced to the popular Swedish song and international
chart-topper, “Dancing Queen”. Last but not least, SMEDC
clients performed a dance-and-skit titled “The Warrior” that
depicted a kaleidoscope of events in the lives of the warriors
and how they learned to overcome their challenges.   

On 6 May 2016, caregivers celebrated Mother’s Day through
a Recyclable T-shirt Workshop where eight of them used
pre-loved T-shirts and made them into beautiful bags. The
workshop ended off with a surprise celebration for the
mothers as the clients presented carnations to their mothers
for their unwavering and selfless love for them.
• Visit to Singapore Garden Festival 2016
Organised by the Caregivers’ Support Initiative (CSI) group,
the caregivers visited the “Singapore Garden Festival 2016”
at Gardens by the Bay on 29 July where they revelled in
the 70 garden and floral displays. The festival also featured
gardening luminaries from around the world, as well as an
orchid display at the Flower Dome.
• Rosyth Neighbourhood Committee’s Mid-Autumn Festival
The Rosyth Neighbourhood Committee’s Mid-Autumn
Festival celebration on 10 September 2016, was a success
with families and their children strolling around the field with
lanterns and sparklers. The event also included various games
such as a Pomelo Peeling Challenge and a walk around the
community which provided a good opportunity to bond with
the Rosyth neighbourhood.
• Visit to Jurong Bird Park
On 3 December 2016, an outing was organised to the Jurong
Bird Park where 40 caregivers together with 8 staff enjoyed
watching the wide range of exotic birds flying freely in the
aviaries.

MINDS Concert 2016

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

Caregivers’ Engagement Activities
SEED is also ramping up its effort to engage its caregivers as
they are the key people in our clients’ lives. In order for clients to
benefit from the programmes that SEED offers, it is crucial to work
hand-in-hand with their caregivers, who also help to refresh
clients’ memories of the skills they learnt from the centres.
Therefore, SEED has also organised various bonding activities
that allow our staff to bond and build a better working relationship
with the respective caregivers. Some of the activities include:
• Hi-Tea Session
On 23 April 2016, Ms Lorna, a caregiver of Eugene Ow,
organised a Hi-Tea session for 54 caregivers and clients at the
Tanglin Club Singapore where they enjoyed a day of games
and music.
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Case Management and Self-Care
In June 2016, MINDS Allied Health Professional (AHP) team
conducted an in-house training for staff at IEDC about Care
Management / Information Referral and Self-Care to familiarise
the staff with the case referral process.
Team Effectiveness Training
In July 2016, 35 staff attended the team effectiveness training
conducted by Mr Kulwant from Knolskape to improve the
effectiveness of working together as a team. The various teams
learned to assess their effectiveness by using Pat Lencioni’s
model and discussed strategies to address the different barriers
affecting the team’s effectiveness and how they could work
together to achieve maximum effectiveness using the rating of
High Performing Team as taught by the trainer.
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SUCCESS STORIES
In 2016, MINDS Hi-Job! JPJS programme placed 137 clients out for OE, of which 40 of them are MINDS clients. Here are some of their
success stories:

Angela Lim Mei Choo (SMEDC)

Anisa (IEDC)

Ignatius Goh Swee Heng (WEDC)

Angela started working at MINDS Food
in 2008 where she was trained to do
dishwashing, food preparation and
cutting of vegetables. The shy and timid
young lady showed potential as she
always completed her tasks properly
and was motivated to do more. She also
learned to travel independently through
community mobility training and obtained
her WSQ certificate for food hygiene.

Anisa graduated from TGS and joined
IEDC in January 2016. She was attached
to MINDS Food where she received
vocational training and was tasked to
ensure the cleanliness in the canteen.

Ignatius, a former student of WGS. After
2 years of intensive training at MINDS
Food, and support from AHP, he achieved
readiness for OE and was referred to HiJob!. He was employed by KFC @ Sun
Plaza as a part-time Lobby Crew in 2015.
With the support of WEDC staff and his
caregiver, Ignatius is motivated to go to
work regularly and picked up new skills.

In January 2016, Angela underwent the
Operational Attachment Programme,
organised by Holiday Inn Singapore
Orchard City Centre, which aims to equip
people with disabilities with relevant
skills to manage the hotel’s Stewarding
Department. Angela put her skills which
she learned at SMEDC to use and
successfully completed the programme.
She is currently gainfully employed as a
full-time staff of the hotel.

In December 2016, Anisa was assessed
to be job-ready. After passing her Hi-Job!
interview, Anisa was placed out in the OE
where she continued to be supported by
a JPJS officer.
Anisa went for a job trial at Nex’s
McDonald’s outlet where she performed
excellently during the trial. She is working
there on a part-time basis on weekends
with the continued support from her JPJS
officer.

Mr Kannan, the General Manager of KFC,
appreciated Ignatius for his good work
behaviour and politeness towards his
co-workers. He added that Ignatius is the
only worker who consistently greets all his
colleagues in the morning.

She continues to be a role model whose
resilience and perseverance garnered
respect from the people around her. It is
her sincerity and enduring attitude that
paved the way for her future. We have no
doubt that she can lead her own quality
and fruitful life.
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Programmes

Clients

Staff

Home

121

55

Hostel / Group Home

54

10

Community Group Home

6

1

Children’s Wing

19

22

Total (Residential Services)

200

88

Ang Mo Kio TDC (ATDC)

68 (47 Full Time, 21 Part time)

19

Clementi TDC (CTDC)

71 (49 Full Time, 22 Part Time)

19

Eunos TDC (ETDC)

65 (45 Full Time, 20 Part Time)

16

Jurong TDC (JTDC)

39 (28 Full Time, 11 Part Time)

12

Napiri TDC (NTDC)

64 (45 Full time, 19 Part Time)

16

Tampines TDC (TTDC)

57 (33 Full Time, 24 Part Time)

14

Total (TDCs)

364

96

Total (Home-Based Care Services)

17

7

Total (Me Too! Club)

33

2

Residential Services (MINDSville@Napiri)

Training & Development Centres (TDCs)

MINDS provides residential services through its multi-service
centre, MINDSville@Napiri where PWIDs from six years old and
above are cared for through specialised residential care and
services, respite care, short and long-term care services.
MINDS also provides Home-Based Care Services (HBCS) to
support PWIDs through therapy service (i.e. Occupational
Therapy, Physiotherapy), training and care provision, in their own
home to enable those not receiving any services to continue to live
and participate meaningfully in the community, thus maximising
their development and well-being. In addition, MINDS also set
up MINDS Me Too! Club (MTC) to enhance the social integration
of PWIDs through leisure and befriending activities.
MINDS operates six Training & Development Centres (TDCs)
for adults with intellectual disability who require higher level of
support and greater specialised intervention to enhance their
independence in various skills.
An NTDC client practising her community-living skills
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Joyce enjoying her scenic run with her volunteer during
RUNNINGHOUR 2017. The RUNNINGHOUR 2017 is a national event that
aims to promote integration and nurture an inclusive Singapore
for people with special needs through mainstream sports

A HBCS client receiving art-therapy services at home

Home-Based Care Services (HBCS)
Funded by the Ministry of Social & Family Development (MSF)
and Tote Board Social Service Fund, the HBCS started as a pilot
in September 2014 for two years which ended in September
2016. It has been extended to September 2017 due to the
positive feedback HBCS has received since its inception. New
enhancements were also added to the service and would be
tested during the extended period.
In 2016, MSF reviewed the manpower model upon MINDS’ request
and agreed to support the funding to provide psychological
support to HBCS clients. They have also extended a Social Work
Assistant position to provide more manpower support to the
programme. In addition, subsidies are also provided for clients
to receive therapy services. The HBCS service model has since
improved, which further benefits the clients and caregivers.  

Currently, activities conducted by MINDS MTC are extended
to HBCS clients as well as clients who are receiving part-time
TDC services to engage more clients through participating in
meaningful social activities.
MINDS has also taken the initiative to implement Individual Care
Plan (ICP) reviews to track clients’ progress in social activities and
functional skills.
The frequency of clients joining the activities organised by MINDS
MTC is high with excellent feedback received from caregivers.
They have found the activities engaging and interesting. The
clients too, enjoyed the activities and look forward to the next
activity organised.

Currently, MINDS is working with MSF to evaluate the efficacy of
HBCS to ensure good quality services are provided.
To further augment HBCS, the clients are roped in with
Me Too! Club (MTC) clients to provide those receiving therapy
and training in activities of daily living (ADL) the opportunity to
participate in social activities organised by MTC.
Many caregivers find HBCS useful as it not only keeps their child
engaged at home with meaningful activities, but also provides
caregivers opportunities to seek respite from caregiving
responsibilities. It has been acknowledged that HBCS is crucial
in bridging the gaps for PWIDs who are unable to tap on centrebased services.  
Me Too! Club (MTC)
Funded by the National Council of Social Service (NCSS), MINDS
MTC started as a pilot programme on 1 August 2015 for a period
of three years. The programme is run mainly by volunteers
and befrienders with the objective to enhance the social
integration of these socially isolated clients through leisure and
befriending activities, thus improving the quality of life of clients
and caregivers. MINDS engages volunteers and befrienders to
conduct weekly activities, monthly outings such as rock climbing,
social skills training, art therapy and pet therapy, as well as
conduct regular home visits.

Minister Tan Chuan-Jin receiving a handmade plaque made by MINDS
clients from a JTDC client during the official opening of JTDC

MINDS Sixth TDC — JTDC
MINDS’ sixth TDC, Jurong Training & Development Centre
(JTDC) was officially opened on 22 March 2017 by Mr Tan
Chuan-Jin, Minister for Social and Family Development.
Located at Tradehub 21 at 18 Boon Lay Way, JTDC sparked the
first-of-its-kind collaboration with Evangel Bible Presbyterian
Church, where both organisations share the same premises and
resources. While JTDC operates on weekdays, the church would
run their activities on the weekends. The partnership is particularly
unique for it elicits creative means of transforming the physical
space to fit both establishments’ needs in terms of classrooms,
logistics, etc.
JTDC is also one of the first day activity centre to be located at a
commercial property within light industries, providing plenty of
volunteering or employment opportunities to work closely with
its light-industry neighbours.
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Comprising a total capacity of 53 clients, the new JTDC helps
alleviate the waitlist in the West which has reached a bottleneck
for several years.
MINDS Seventh and Eighth TDCs—YTDC and FTDC
MINDS is geared for its seventh and eighth TDC—Yishun
Training & Development Centre (YTDC) and Faber Training &
Development Centre (FTDC). Currently the centres are under
renovation and will be functional after the second half of year
2017. FTDC has a capacity for 44 clients while YTDC has a
capacity for 58 clients, in which YTDC will serve clients with
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). With the opening of FTDC and
YTDC, it will help alleviate the long waitlist in the West as well as
in the North.
To expand the centres’ capacity as well as to better address
clients’ and caregivers’ needs, MINDS has implemented
part-time TDC service (two to three days) since 2013. The
part-time service has been very well received by caregivers since
its implementation as it provided them the flexibility to send
their child to the centre. It has also allowed the TDC to admit
more clients, thus addressing the space constraint issue.
In addition, part-time TDC clients are encouraged to join
MINDS MTC activities in the days when they are not at the
centre so that they can be continually engaged and kept
meaningfully occupied.

The Community Model clients volunteering at St. Luke’s Hospital
where they helped clean the windows

Community Model
The Community Model is a new community-living skills training
programme piloted by MINDS in April 2016 to train clients in
their community, with the objective of working towards
independent living. The programme allows clients with low
support needs to spend more of their training time to participate
within the community and practice the skills they have learned in
the natural environment. This programme is currently executed
in two TDCs—Ang Mo Kio Training & Development Centre (ATDC)
and Clementi Training & Development Centre. NCSS has also
provided funding for this pilot programme for a period of three
years with effect from 1 October 2016.
Conducted mainly within the community, the training includes
travelling on public transport, purchasing and ordering
lunch from neighbourhood eateries, simple budgeting, art
appreciation in the parks, and volunteering with other voluntary
welfare organisations (VWOs). Notwithstanding, the clients also
continue to receive training on ADL and home-living skills in
the centre.
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The Community Model clients putting their independent-travelling
skills to good use at Clementi train station

Since the implementation of the programme, the clients have
been observed to be more confident, sociable and more
involved in various activities. Not only are they more proficient
in their independent living skills, they are also more aware of
various social situations. The caregivers are also very satisfied
with the client’s progress after participating in this programme.

The children celebrating with the staff during their year-end party

Licensing of Home, Hostel and Children’s Wing
Children’s Wing was first licensed in October 2012.
The license is valid for a period of two years upon every renewal.
In September 2016, Children’s Wing passed the licensing
inspection with a high score of 88 out of a total score of 100,
which qualified its license to be renewed for another two
years until September 2018. Children’s Wing has consistently
performed well in its inspection of licensing.
In the voluntary inspection of the Home and Hostel conducted
by MSF in September 2016, both residential services met
its requirements stated in the standard of care by achieving
good scores.
The Board of Visitors visits the three residential services once
every quarter. In the past visits, they had highlighted several areas
of strengths in the services with no major negative feedback
as well. MINDS endeavours to continue to maintain a high
standard of care in the residential services.
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The caregivers are also given information and resources to
enable them to make well-informed decisions for their charges
when they are no longer able to care for them.
Moving forward, there is a need to provide various services for
caregivers to relieve some of their caregiving responsibilities and
help alleviate their stress. In light of this, MINDS will be conducting
needs assessment to understand caregivers’ expectations and
ascertain the type of services they require.

The Community Group Home clients enjoying a rare holiday in Perth
away from their usual rut in Singapore

Community Group Home
The clients from MINDS Community Group Home continue
to do well. Staying at three units of a Housing Development
Board (HDB) flat located in Jalan Bukit Merah, the clients have
expressed great satisfaction with their independent living within
the community.
Recently, the clients initiated a vacation to Perth, Australia with
the support from volunteers. The vacation enabled the clients
to expand their horizons and practise their independent-living
skills beyond their community through the various activities.
The vacation was carefully planned to ensure the clients enjoyed
themselves in a safe and closely monitored environment.
The community is observed to be supportive of the clients in the
Community Group Home. The clients are also assimilating well
in the community by making use of community facilities such as
purchasing food in hawker centres and visiting the cinema during
their leisure time. The option of community living has provided
them many opportunities to exercise their choices and make
decisions. Their quality of life has also improved tremendously.
Moving forward, MINDS is exploring to seek collaboration
with other VWOs to expand the housing options to clients with
different levels of needs. MINDS is looking into the possibility
of providing assisted living options for clients with higher
support needs.

Clients’ Training and Programme Development
Since 2014, all TDCs have adopted the “Participate in the
Community, Accepted in Society”, a curriculum framework
that enables TDCs to align their training programmes
according to the curriculum and adopt a more systematic
approach in carrying out training. The clients’ Individual Training
Plans (ITPs) have been developed holistically in domains such as
social skills, fitness, health and wellness, leisure, and recreation.
The TDCs have also developed training guides for Training
Officers (TOs) in the implementation of the curriculum.
With inputs from the Allied Health Professionals, direct-care
staff, and caregivers, the clients’ training programmes focus on a
person-centred approach to meet the specific needs of the clients.
Clients are allowed to exercise choice making as far as possible
while trainings are predominantly activity based to train their
functionality skills and community-living skills. The programmes
continue to be reviewed through regular discussions on cases as
well as monitoring of clients’ progress in training.
Assistive technology has been harnessed to enrich the training
of the clients with funding provided by Infocomm Media
Development Authority (IMDA). More efforts will be made in this
area to further tap on information and assistive technology such
as iPads, sensory software, and simulators in the training and
development of the clients.
Caregivers’ Support
With government subsidies given for respite care at the
Home and Hostel, MINDS is seeing an increased number of
caregivers in recent years seeking respite care for their charges
in the residential services. With respite care being provided, the
caregivers would have some reprieve and thus, help alleviate  
stress and prevent burnt out. This would also help ease the
financial burden of caregivers.

Support for Elderly Clients and Caregivers
The number of clients over the age of 50 years old continues to
grow with better medical and nursing care provided. Currently,
the residential services and TDCs are faced with growing
number of elderly clients with aged caregivers. An approximate
55% of the clients are aged 41 to 60 years old. Besides having
intellectual disability, many of them are also living with physical
disability and other complex medical issues such as epilepsy,
dementia, cancer and stroke.
With effect from October 2016, MINDS has developed
long-term care plans for clients who are above the age of 50
years old. In this care plan, several concerns such as residential
care and deputyship are raised with the caregivers where they
explored and discussed the various options together with
the staff.
The elderly clients at MV Home receiving various therapy services
within MV as well as out in the community
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MINDS will continue to work closely with the local community to
engage the clients and at the same time, raise awareness about
MINDS and persons with intellectual disability. MINDS will also
actively reach out to the volunteers and donors to add value to
the current range of service MINDS is providing.

The caregivers from CTDC were thrilled to go for an excursion to
Johor Bahru with MINDS staff

For residential services’ clients, MINDS ensures caregivers
maintain contact with their child, who is placed in long-term care
at the Home, Hostel or Children’s Wing. This is done through
conducting regular visits, offering home leave and organising
outings. For the children at Children’s Wing, MINDS aims to
reintegrate the children with their family once they have reached
the age of 19 years old. With this objective in mind, Children’s
Wing actively engages the caregivers throughout the period of
their child’s stay in the Home. If assessed to be suitable to return
home, the staff will help to prepare the family in advance.
Through TDCs, HBCS and MTC, MINDS provides respite for
caregivers as their charges attend these community-based
services. This helps relieve some caregiving responsibilities for
the caregivers, but also allow them to use their free time to do
personal chores or seek employment.
Moving forward, MINDS will be exploring the feasibility to
provide customised respite care. This would enable MINDS to
deliver better services to meet caregivers’ needs. Studies will also
be conducted to assess the need to change the TDC’s operation
hours to better suit the caregivers’ needs.
A series of events and activities were organised for caregivers in
2016 through the centres’ Caregivers’ Support Initiatives (CSI). In
addition, MINDS also conducted several parents’ dialogues and
home visits to seek caregivers’ feedback, and to update them on
their child’s progress so that they can better manage their child
at home.
In the caregivers’ satisfaction survey feedback collected in early
2017, more than 80% of the caregivers gave a good / excellent
rating to the services provided by the residential services
and TDCs.
Volunteers’ Engagement
The support from volunteers and donors is integral to ensure
programmes are run more efficiently. Keeping this in mind, the
residential services and TDCs engage an active pool of corporate
and individual volunteers to come in regularly to help conduct
some of the programmes.
In particular, activities that MTC had organised are run mainly by
volunteers. From conceptualisation to execution of the activities,
the volunteers have been actively involved. These volunteers are
also befrienders who conduct regular home visits to catch up
with the clients and their caregivers.
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Tossing for luck: The clients from CTDC and volunteers were celebrating
Chinese New Year with the traditional “Lo Hei”

Staff Training & Development
To fully equip MINDS staff in managing clients with ASD,
MINDS is sending staff to attend training in Treatment and
Education of Autistic and Communication-related handicapped
Children (TEACCH) — an evidence-based service, training and
research programme for individuals of all ages and skills levels
with autism spectrum disorders.
To ensure new staff are properly trained and orientated, RCCS
has introduced a three-year structured staff training programme.
This enables staff to develop a good understanding about
PWIDs and how to manage them through various training
methodologies before they start work.
In collaboration with MINDS AHP services, MINDS will also be
training staff in Active Support, a systematic approach to support
people with disability to become engaged in a range of everyday
activities and relationships that are meaningful and to enhance
their health, wellbeing and quality of life. This would equip staff
with the relevant skills and procedures to focus on the direct
support of meaningful activities. MINDS aims to foster a culture
of Active Support within MINDS to provide better support for the
clients in training.
Apart from this, MINDS is constantly looking out for courses and
trainings to advance staff’s skills in areas specific to their line of
profession to enable them to be adequately trained to perform
their job responsibilities more effectively. These areas include
but are not limited to courses related to ASD, first aid, positive
behavioural support, strategies for management of challenging
behaviours, and ageing and geriatric care.
MINDS is also looking at creating various opportunities and
platforms such as organising in-house trainings, workshops
or focus groups to share ideas on the implementation of the
curriculum as well as to learn about instructional strategies in
order to carry out training effectively.  
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
Raising Service Standards for Clients and Families

INTRODUCTION
The Allied Health Professional (AHP) services team is a 63-member
diverse team comprising Psychologists (Psys), Social Workers
(SWs), Occupational Therapists (OTs), Physiotherapists (PTs) and
Speech Therapists (STs). Placed at various MINDS centres and
schools, the AHP services team provides a comprehensive range
of quality services for our clients and families to maximise their
potential and fulfil their aspirations.
The three key AHP initiatives for the year ending March 2017
remained the same as last year: raising service standards for
MINDS clients and families; providing quality training to staff
and parents or caregivers and volunteers; and supporting the
professional development and welfare of the AHPs. On top
of this, the past year also saw an emphasis on strengthening
practitioner-scientist practice through conducting relevant
applied research studies that were linked to client interventions.
With the setting up of the MINDS Institute for Intellectual and
Developmental Disabilities (MIIDD), more collaborative work
between the AHP and the Institute is anticipated.
AHP services continue to be guided by a panel of expert
volunteers in the sub-committee: Dr Chua Hong Choon,
Dr Wong Mei Yin, Mr JR Karthikeyan and Mr Frederick Low led by
chairperson, Mr Manojit Sen.

The Text/Speech-to-sign app developed by Republic Polytechnic
Singapore and MINDS is available for download on all Android devices

Key Word Sign
In the third year of Key Word Sign (KWS) implementation across
MINDS centres and schools, several initiatives were introduced
to make signing more fun and meaningful. For instance, the
KWS committee came up with “Using KWS in Song Challenge,
an initiative to encourage staff to collaborate and send videos
of them signing and singing. The winning team of the challenge
went to CTDC with staff who signed and sang the song, “Paint
You a Song”.
The committee also came up with other initiatives throughout
the year. With the help from Republic Polytechnic, the KWS
committee developed a text/speech-to-sign app, providing a
repository of videos of staff signing 50 key word signs.
The app is currently available for free on Google Play Store
on Android devices. KWS-related activities were also held at
the various schools and centres. To mark the milestone, the
KWS Committee put together a video to celebrate the journey.
At the same time, the video aims to raise awareness and
encourage staff, parents, caregivers and members of the public
to adopt KWS as part of a total communication approach so that
children and adults with communication challenges are able to
communicate better through other forms of communication in
addition to speech.

annual report 2016/2017

37

ALLIED HEALTH
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Made up of Social Workers and Siblings Leaders, the Siblings Team got
together to plan for the year-end camp

The students from the Special Class are assisted by the teacher
and Physiotherapist in the six-minute walk as part of the school-level
fitness and exercise programme

Fitness and Exercise Programmes
The fitness and health of MINDS clients are of paramount
importance, thus the PTs at the various MINDS centres and
schools run individual and group exercise programmes to
improve their physical fitness and health. Over at TGS, a schoollevel exercise programme was implemented where teachers
and the PT worked together to plan suitable fitness exercises
and activities for the students. They would also assess how these
exercises would improve their general fitness.

Activities to Improve Sibling Relationships
Siblings of clients form the next pillar of support for the family;
thus it is imperative for the siblings to build a positive relationship
with their siblings. Since 2013, the SWs have been organising
activities yearly to enhance relationships among the siblings
and provide support to them. Led by SWs, the Siblings Team is
formed to rope in siblings leaders to help with the planning and
running of the various activities.

The caregivers at the Caregivers Support Group from Idea Employment
Development Centre (IEDC) engaging in a variety of activities

Support Groups for Caregivers and Parents
This is also the third year that SWs are running support groups
for parents/caregivers at the various MINDS schools and centres.
Facilitated by SWs, the parents/caregivers came together to
share about their experiences and challenges in providing care
for their charges and to provide support for each other. The
feedback from the support groups has been encouraging.
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Using the software programme to make skills training more
interesting, the client learns to sweep away a fogged area which
opens to a beautiful scenery

Advancing Skills through Technology
With funding from Infocomm Development Authority   of
Singapore (IDA), the OTs and PTs have used simulators and
software programme such as V-step, Magic Carpet and Prosense
to advance clients’ skills. The simulators offer a host of virtual
games and exercises designed to engage the clients in a
variety of activities that aim to improve alertness, reaction time
and attention span. The simulators can also be used to teach
pre-vocational skills such as sweeping the floor or wiping the
table as the client engages in the games. Preliminary assessment
showed promising results as more than 60% of the clients
were engaged in the activities and more than 45% showed
improvement in their attention span.
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Practising safety in road-crossing

Conducting Skills Training to Clients
The MINDS Psys have conducted various skills training at
the centres and schools to enhance client safety and social
skills. For instance, the Psys at FGS used visual cue cards,
videos and live practices to train the special class students
in safety and social skills. In other centres and schools, the
Psys trained clients on appropriate social interaction skills by
teaching and demonstrating turn-taking, greeting one another,
and keeping appropriate physical distance when talking to
one another.

Examples of Training Conducted by Various
AHPs in Year 2016
AHPs

Description

Physiotherapists

•
•

Transfer Techniques for Nursing Staff
Make Physical Activities a Part of Your
Family Routine

Speech Therapists

•
•

Effective Communication Strategies
Communication: Understanding
High-Tech Alternative and
Augmentative Communication and Its
Effective Use
Workshop on Articulation and Oral
Motor Exercises for Parents and
Caregivers

At LGS and TGS, the Psys worked closely with other AHPs and
staff to train graduating students on how to conduct themselves
at job interviews.

Conducting Quality Training to Staff,
Caregivers / Parents and Volunteers
Training Sessions
In the past year, AHPs delivered over 50 training sessions reaching
out to more than 800 staff, 165 volunteers and 415 caregivers
across all centres and schools.

•

Social Workers

•

Future Planning for My Child

Psychologists

•

No Man is an Island: The
Importance of Social Relationships
and Practical Tips to Strengthen the
Bond Between Parent and Child
Sign Posts for Building Better
Behaviour

•
Occupational
Therapists

•

Living Skills Training — Enhancing
Your Child’s Level of Independence

On top of this, the STs also trained staff from an external agency
on “Basic Key Word Sign” whilst the Psychologists provided
training to volunteers from the Appropriate Adult Scheme and
MINDS MYG.

Professional Development & Staff Welfare of AHPs

The nursing staff from MINDSville@Napiri practising transferring
techniques taught by PT

Advancing Skills and Knowledge through Various Platforms
The AHPs continue to build skills and knowledge through
various platforms such as regularly scheduled supervision and
professional development sessions with their respective seniors
and AHP Heads as well as through reading of journal articles
made available through MIIDD. All AHPs are required to attend
40 – 60 hours of continuous education within the year and bring
back relevant learning points for sharing and implementation.
On top of this, AHPs also conduct evidence-based interventions.
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Speech Therapists providing training to the staff of AWWA

In 2016, the AHPs conducted trainings like Signposts for Building
Better Behaviour and Hanen Communication Programmes
for other AHPs. Currently, there are nine AHPs who are
certified Signposts trainers and three STs who are certified
Hanen Trainers.
Conducting Applied Research Studies
The focus on practitioner-scientist practice has led to more
AHPs conducting applied research studies, which supported
and informed their clinical practice. For example, MINDS Psys
presented a paper on the development of a vocational assessment
tool for Employment Development Centre (EDC) clients, and a
poster on the benefits of the Signpost Behaviour Management
Programme with caregivers at the International Association for
the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Development Disabilities
(IASSIDD) 2016 15th World Congress in Melbourne, Australia.
Both paper and poster abstracts were accepted for publications
in the Journal for Intellectual Disability Research (JIDR). The OT
shared a paper on the effectiveness of an employment model
for EDC clients at the European Conference of the Occupational
Therapists in Galway, Ireland. The AHPs also presented five papers
at the 2016 MINDS Symposiums namely “Positive Behaviour
Support — A Case Study”, “A Goal-Directed Approach in Training
Special Class Students Self-Help Skills and On-task Behaviour”,
“Turning into our Senses — An Initiative at MV Home”, “Is WGS
Combined Vocational Training Effective in Improving Vocational
Skills of Students? — A Pilot Study” (which was co-presented with
the teaching staff), and “Promoting Healthy Boundaries When
Engaging Caregivers and Families”.

Mr Keh Eng Song, MINDS CEO; Dr Jeffrey Chan, MINDS Deputy CEO and
Mr Manojit Sen, AHP sub-committee chairperson addressing the crowd
with their inspiring speeches during the retreat
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The MINDS Symposium 2016 held at Furama RiverFront Hotel on
28 May 2017 with more than 600 MINDS staff in attendance

MINDS Symposium 2016
More than 600 MINDS staff attended the MINDS Symposium
2016 on 28 May at the Furama RiverFront Hotel where a series
of workshops and talks were presented by invited experts from
various fields. Dr Vivienne Riches, registered psychologist and
Senior Research Fellow at the Centre for Disability Studies,
Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney delivered the
keynote address, which highlighted the importance of personcentred Active Support. Some of the talks that were featured
during the Symposium were “Mental and Physical Health Issues
in People with Intellectual Disability” by Dr Giles Ming-Yee Tan
and Dr Sajith Sreedharan Geetha from Institute of Mental Health;
“Reflective Thinking and Practice” by Ms Lim Luck Siew from
National Institute of Education and “Laughter Yoga” by Jane
Grafton from Mindfulness Trainer. Ms Vadivu Govind delivered
the second and last keynote address — Discover Greater Joy at
Work, and brought the staff through an enlightening session on
finding joy at work.
AHP Annual Retreat
On 30 September 2016, the AHPs came together for a day of
team bonding and professional development during the annual
retreat. The biggest highlight of the retreat went to the laser tag
challenge, where the AHPs formed a team and competed against
each other. Other highlights included “Minute to Win” Team
Challenge and “Building Your Own Terrarium”. The AHPs were
also treated to a talk on “Emotional Intelligence”.

The AHPs coming together and having fun at the annual retreat
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MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities
(MIIDD) was established with the aim of becoming a world-class
service provider and leader in delivering services to people with
intellectual and developmental disabilities.

In addition to applying for funding for MIIDD and exploring
potential partnerships, a three-year action plan was also developed.

The Terms of Reference are:
•

•
•

•

•
•
•

To lead and facilitate the establishment of the proposed
Centre/Institute with the primary purpose of improving
the lives of and outcomes for people with intellectual and
developmental disabilities and caregivers, as evidenced by
the measured improvement in the quality of life of people
and their caregivers
To guide the establishment of the Institute to build the skills
and professional development of MINDS staff, and ensuring
the use of evidence-base practice in their day-to-day work
To develop a business case for the establishment of the
Institute — the business case needs to outline stages/phases
of the establishment, the financial resource required for the
establishment of the Institute, staffing model, the project
milestones and potential affiliation(s)
To advise on the name of the Institute, its mission and
functions, leadership of the Centre/Institute and governance
model so that it leads to MINDS’ vision of being a world-class
service provider
To seek advice where appropriate on the establishment of
the Institute (e.g. Director of Finance, MSF or NCSS)
To propose to MINDS Executive Committee on the
establishment of the Institute
To lead the communication of the Institute in its establishment
phase

ASEAN Inter-Governmental Commission on Human Rights
(AICHR)
MIIDD successfully applied to the AICHR where MINDS was
approved as a Consultative Relationship with AICHR on 17
November 2016 by the Chair of AIRCHR, H.E. Phoukhong
Sisoulath, representative of the Lao People’s Democratic
Republic to AICHR.
MIIDD has been very active in participating activities organised
by AICHR. On 29 June 2016 to 1 July 2016, Mr Jeffrey Tan,
President of MINDS, was invited by Singapore Ambassador,
Mr Barry Desker, to the AICHR 2nd Regional Dialogue on the
Mainstreaming of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in the
ASEAN Community, in Chiangmai, Thailand with Dr Jeffrey Chan
attending as Mr Jeffrey Tan’s advisor to AICHR.
Through MIIDD, Dr Chan was invited as a speaker on disability
health policies to AICHR Training Programme on the Rights of
Persons with Disabilities on 11 to 14 October 2016 in Bangkok,
Thailand. Dr Jeffrey Chan was further invited to deliver training
on the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities at
the ASEAN Secretariat Council’s Human Rights Training: Human
Rights Mechanisms/ Systems and Disability Awareness on 7 to 9
December 2016 in Jakarta, Indonesia.

Representatives from various ASEAN countries convening at the Mainstreaming of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in the ASEAN Community
[Photo source: aichr.org]

annual report 2016/2017

41

MINDS INSTITUTE OF INTELLECTUAL AND
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES

MIIDD was presented the Dester Singapore Gold Cup Grant by
Chairman of Singapore Turf Club, Mr Lim Joo Boon

On 3 to 4 November 2016, Mr Jeffrey Tan and Dr Jeffrey Chan
were invited to participate in the AICHR Seminar on Promoting
Corporate Social Responsibility and Human Rights in ASEAN.
Dr Chan also participated in Singapore ASEAN Consultation
on Human Rights, which was convened by Mr Barry Desker,
Singapore’s representative to AICHR on 10 February 2017.
Dester Singapore Gold Cup Grant
MIIDD successfully secured a S$100,000 research grant funded
by the Singapore Turf Club Dester Gold Cup Grant. With the
grant, MIIDD aims to investigate the predictors of successful open
employment in people with disabilities from their perspectives,
as well as from their caregivers and employers.

Mr Vimallan s/o Manokara, Applied Research Fellow /Senior Practioner
presenting at International Association for the Scientific Study of
Intellectual and Development Disabilities (IASSIDD) 2016 in Melbourne

MIIDD Research Papers
In collaboration with the MINDS Allied Health Professionals
team, MIIDD presented 11 paper presentations at national and
international conferences and forums. 10 research papers and
abstracts were published in international peer-reviewed journals
as well.
Partnership with Down Syndrome Association
Currently, MIIDD is looking to collaborate with Down Syndrome
Association to pilot a self-advocacy project to empower people
with intellectual and developmental disabilities to advocate for
themselves, thus raising awareness about them.

MIIDD was part of the team of presenters  for the session on “Labour and Employment of People with Disabilities” at the IASSIDD

42

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

CAREGIVERS
SUPPORT SERVICES

INTRODUCTION
MINDS Caregivers Support Services (CSS) aims to support
caregivers across transition points and development phases
through a comprehensive range of support mechanisms that will
address their caregiving, financial, social-emotional and training
needs. Through the range of services provided, CSS hopes to
enable caregivers to maintain a balance between caring for
their charges and a life outside of caregiving. CSS welcomes
caregivers to contact the centre which provides the following
services:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Call Services
Information Provision
Emotional and Social Support through counselling and
networking services
Stress management and caregivers’ self-care activities with
opportunities for respite time through provision of activities
for their charges
Financial Support through referrals to financial support
resources
Care Support through referral for respite care, training and
residential services and linking of caregivers for mutual care
assistance
Building of caregivers’ capability through training workshops/
seminars on skills for working with their charges. Bonding
activities to build relationships between caregivers and their
charges
Collaboration for Advocacy
Collaboration for Innovation

CSS hopes to reach out to all caregivers and provide resources
necessary to empower them so as to enable them to participate
fully in economic, social and cultural life and fulfil their aspirations
through the realisation of opportunities.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

For the past year, more than 50 training workshops on topics
ranging from independent living skills to care-planning have
been panned out for caregivers. These workshops built the
capability and increased the self-confidence of caregivers in
their caregiving roles, which also made a positive impact on
their children with special needs. Apart from this, there were also
many social, networking and bonding activities organised for the
caregivers to help alleviate stress and improve their emotional
health and well-being. The CSS also reached out to siblings
in families as the onus to care for their siblings with special
needs would fall on them especially when the main caregivers
are unable to continue their caregiving role due to old age or
health issues.
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CAREGIVERS
SUPPORT SERVICES
2017 Model Caregivers’ Awards
Ms Sherry Lim, the elder sister of Mr Lim Kian Say, a client from
WEDC clinched the 2017 Model Caregivers’ Award organised
by AWWA. She was recognised for her exemplary efforts in
assuming the caregiving role to care for her brother who has
Down syndrome. She was also noted for her willingness to
contribute her time and energy to volunteer at WEDC as a
Caregiver Assistant Leader to help fellow caregivers in caring for
persons with special needs.
In addition, the following caregivers were also awarded:
Names

Award Category

Mdm Nagojothi d/o
Marimuthu

Commendation Recipient for
Individual Caregiver

Ms Louisa Wong

Commendation Recipient for
Young Caregiver

Ms Ruhama Bte Halimi

Commendation Recipient for
Family Caregiver

Mdm Ratna Bte Md Zain

Commendation Recipient for
Individual Caregiver

Sherry Lim, recipient for 2017 Model Caregivers’ Award receiving her
award together with her family members

The caregivers sharing their feedback in MSF’s focus group discussion
as part of the development of the Enabling Masterplan 3

The caregivers of Towner Gardens School acted as scarecrows and
protected the children from the menacing crows

MINDS Concert 2016
The caregivers of TGS acted as scarecrows and protected the
children from the menacing crows.
Mdm Angi Kok, Mdm Kim Chua and Mdm Kong, caregiver
members of TGS’ Caregiver Support Initiative Committee, took the
initiative to perform “Frolics of the Scarecrows” with the students
during the MINDS Concert 2016 on 15 October. The skit depicts
how a menacing crow came swooping by a group of children
who were playing in the field. Acting as scarecrows, the caregivers
emerged and drove off the crow, thus restoring the field to a safe
sanctuary it once used to be. Despite the lack of experience in
dancing, the caregivers overcame their apprehensions and spent
weeks to rehearse with the students. Eventually, they gave a
spectacular performance and captivated the audience with their
spritely moves.
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Focus Group Discussions
In June 2016, the Ministry of Social and Family Development
(MSF), National Council of Social Service (NCSS) and MINDS
organised a focus group discussion as part of the development of
the Enabling Masterplan 3, a blueprint to guide the development
of policies, programmes, services and other support for those
with disabilities. The focus group discussion provided a platform
for the caregivers to share their views and feedback, enabling
the steering committee to draw up a comprehensive set of
recommendations with the aim of building a more inclusive
Singapore where more persons with disabilities can realise
their potential and become integral members of our society.
The session saw positive feedback from the 25 caregivers who
had attended the session and appreciated the opportunity to
contribute to the masterplan.

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

CAREGIVERS
SUPPORT SERVICES
Training Workshops
Functional Skills Training
The CSS worked with the AHP and conducted a series of
training workshops at the various centres to advance the skills
of caregivers in caring for their charges. This is in line with the
Caregivers’ Milestone Training Roadmap, which aims to match
caregivers’ training needs with the development milestones
of persons with special needs. The AHPs have conducted
nine training workshops, aimed to develop functional and
communication skills for close to 250 caregivers. In addition,
MINDS also engaged professional trainers and conducted six
workshops for the caregivers. The topics included:  
Topics

Presenter

Communication — More than
the Spoken Word

Ms Michelle Stella Weick

Living Skills — Enhancing
Child’s Independence

Mr Ashokkumar,
Mr Sivakkumar and
Ms Joy Princy

Managing Behaviours
During Outings

AHP staff from TGS

One Family One Goal

Trainer from Family
Matters @ School

Parenting Skills — Strategies
to Manage Challenging
Behaviours

Trainer from Family
Matters @ School

Ms Shiva, Occupational Therapist for Home demonstrating
the use of feeding aides to the caregivers

Family Bonding Activities

Care-Planning Training
The CSS conducted five training workshops on care-planning
in 2016. The workshops took the caregivers through the various
domains on care-planning, such as understanding the needs
and level of ability of individuals to provide an accurate profiling,
assessing the current care plan and planning for provisions
on family care and finances. Through the training workshops,
caregivers are more equipped in developing a care plan based on
their needs and capability, enabling them to enjoy better quality
of life.

The “Picnic and Movie under the Stars” Family Day event kept
the participants well entertained with a great Zumba workout in the
morning and a movie under the stars.

Caregivers attending a care-planning training workshop organised by CSSC

Picnic & Movie
On 27 August 2016, the CSS organised a fun-filled “Picnic and
Movie under the Stars” Family Day event at LGS where more
than 300 caregivers and their family members participated in the
event. The event kicked off with a Zumba workout session in the
morning and proceeded to the hall where a galore of games and
activities await. When night fell, the participants were treated to
a movie “Madagascar 3”, while having a sumptuous picnic dinner
out on the field. It was the first for many of the caregivers and
clients to be able to watch a movie, let alone on an open field as
some of the older caregivers reminisced about the olden days.
The event went off very well with the tremendous help rendered
by the volunteers from the Singapore Police Force and students
from National University of Singapore.
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Prawning with WGS
Together with WGS, the CSS organised a prawn fishing outing
for caregivers and their family with more than 50 participants
on 4 June 2016. The family members worked together to catch
the prawns and pitted against each other in catching the largest
prawns. The outing provided the opportunity for the families to
enjoy the fun of prawning, and enabled them to spend quality
time together.  

Doing a warm up together before the real workout starts!

The caregivers from the TDCs were busy browsing through the wide
array of Chinese New Year goodies

Shopping Trips
During festive seasons, the TDCs and EDCs organised several
shopping trips to areas such as Woodlands Loop factories,
Geylang Serai and One KM shopping mall without their children
in tow. These shopping trips provided the caregivers some
respite while their children were being taken care of, and also
allowed them to interact and form friendships, thus providing
support among themselves.

Caregivers’ Respite
June Holidays Day Camp
During the June holidays, the CSS organised a one-day camp
for the students of MINDS schools, giving some respite to the
caregivers. With the support from Hwa Chong Institute whose
students helped to plan and conduct the activities with MINDS
staff, the MINDS students had a field day playing charades, ball
games and some art & craft activities. It was especially meaningful
as many of the caregivers found relieve from their caregiving
responsibilities. One of the caregivers even enjoyed the rare
chance to celebrate her wedding anniversary with her husband.

Siblings Outreach Programmes
The onus on caregiving for persons with special needs lies
not only on the parents themselves, but also on siblings in the
families as well. In light of this, the CSS worked with SWs to
organise camps for siblings to promote bonding among the
family and prepare them for the caregiving role. In June 2016,
they organised a one-day camp for the younger siblings aged 13
years and below where the participants had fun jumping through
the various trampolines and bouncing off the walls at Trampoline
Park. The camp saw some siblings step up as volunteer leaders as
they facilitated the team bonding segments.
In December 2016, a three-day camp was organised for the
youth and young adult siblings at Aranda Campsite where they
learned to work as a team to plan and source for sustenance with
minimal funds. The participants enjoyed the camp tremendously
as they got to know more friends and built closer relationships.
Research Study
To enhance the CSS, a research study would be conducted
from early 2017 to the first quarter of 2018 to study the impact
of the services on the well-being of caregivers. This study will
unveil more insights to improve MINDS’ services, thus enabling
caregivers to achieve a more balanced life in their role as
caregivers and as individuals.
Upcoming Caregivers Conference 2017
The CSS will be holding a Caregivers’ Conference in July 2017,
with keynote speaker, Dr Nirbhay Singh, Clinical Professor of
Psychiatry and Health Behaviour at the Medical College of
Georgia, Augusta University USA in attendance. He will share on
mindfulness-based practices and training for families to cope
with the stress of caregiving. Apart from this, the conference will
also cover topics on deputyship, mental capacity act, etc.

The student volunteers from Hwa Chong Institution providing one-on-one
coaching to the student before the game starts
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CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
AND OUTREACH

Photo source:
Maybank Singapore
Facebook

INTRODUCTION

MINDS continues to advance the development, well-being and aspirations of persons with intellectual disability and their integration
into society. Through education, volunteerism and philanthropy, MINDS engages various stakeholders in the community to integrate
PWIDs into the community; fostering an inclusive society.
Through public education events, MINDS reaches out to members of the public to raise awareness and advocate the interests of
PWIDs. Through organising various volunteering activities, MINDS provides opportunities for the community to empower them and
their families, playing a fuller and more satisfying role in their lives. Through the philanthropic support from the public, MINDS is able
to maximise the development and well-being of PWIDs through the sustained provision of a comprehensive range of quality services.
In 2016, the Corporate Development and Outreach (CDO) team organised 66 volunteering activities and 29 public education
events;engaging 3,130 members of the public and 1,749 volunteers from schools and corporates.  
No. of
Volunteering
Events

No. of
Public Education
Events

No. of
Fundraising
Initiatives

No. of
Public Education
Participants

No. of
volunteers

Schools

20

15

2

1,954

428

Corporates

46

14

9

1,176

1,321

Type of Partner
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CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
AND OUTREACH
KEY HIGHLIGHTS

MINDS’ AA volunteers who took the time to attend a refresher
training on a weekend

Director of “My Feral Heart”, Ms Jane Gull graced the opening night along
with MINDS representatives, Ms Karen Er and Ms Jenny Lim

Appropriate Adult Service
MINDS took over the reins to administer the Appropriate Adult
(AA) Service from the Law Society of Singapore in January 2016,
and has since been providing support to police detainees, victims
or witnesses who are suspected of having intellectual disability,
ASD and/or mental health issues during police interview, through
trained AA volunteers. MINDS’ AA Service has also extended
its scope to provide support to the Agri-Food and Veterinary
Authority (AVA) in alleged animal cruelty cases, as well as the
Central Narcotics Bureau (CNB) in drug-related cases involving
persons with intellectual or mental disabilities or ASD.  Since the
scheme was launched, the number of AA volunteers has grown
to 240. The scheme has also supported over 220 activations
in FY2016.

corporate partners, supporters and volunteers with Minister for
Social & Family Development, Mr Tan Chuan-Jin gracing the
occasion as the Guest-of-Honour. Film Director, Ms Jane Gull,
came to Singapore to present her film and shed some light on
the making of the film.  

On top of this, MINDS has also organised refresher training to
aid existing volunteers in managing persons with intellectual or
mental disabilities or ASD as well as new volunteer training to
provide an understanding of the scheme and equip them with
the necessary skills.

On top of all these, Maybank Singapore also partnered with
MINDS to form a contingent named “You are a STAR!” for the
Purple Parade 2016 to support inclusion.

MINDS FILM FESTIVAL

Supported by

MINDS Film Festival 2016
MINDS’ inaugural Film Festival
kicked off on 29 July 2016 at
Golden Village Grand, Great
MY FERAL HEART
World City and ran its course
over the next three weekends
with films that centred on
MONICA & DAVID
persons
with
intellectual
disability. For the first time,
MINDS put the spotlight
I AM SAM
on persons with intellectual
disability and highlight their
struggles and successes in
THE LAWNMOWER MAN
life through five critically
acclaimed movies that were
screened in local theatres.
THE EIGHTH DAY (LE HUITIÈME JOUR)
Through a collaboration with
the Singapore Film Society
and sponsorship from Nomura, MINDS handpicked “I am Sam”,
“Monica and David”, “The Eighth Day”, “The Lawnmower Man”
and Asian premiere, “My Feral Heart”, which was chosen for the
opening night’s film. The opening night saw more than 150

Maybank Global CR Day 2016
Maybank organised a series of volunteering and philanthropic
activities with MINDS to celebrate its annual Global Corporate
Responsibility Day. In a span of a week, the volunteers from
Maybank Singapore painted six murals on the walls of FGS to
spruce up the façade of the school. Apart from this, Maybank also
donated S$10,000 to MINDSville in addition to installing a new
pantry table top for Children’s Wing. The celebration culminated
on 20 August 2016 in a fundraising carnival held at FGS with
Guest-of-Honour, Ms Denise Phua, Mayor of Central CDC, in
attendance. The fundraising carnival also garnered S$4,000,
which was donated to FGS.
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Taking a group shot behind one of the completed murals at FGS
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Despite the large crowd, the clients were completely riveted by the parade where the indoor fireworks, and pyrotechnics
and the larger-than-life hanging props were a scene to behold

National Day Parade 2016 — NE1 Show
More than 800 MINDS clients, staff and caregivers attended
the National Day Parade — National Education 1 show, invited
by the NDP 2016 Engagement Committee; making this one of
the largest outing organised by MINDS yet. The committee went
above and beyond in seeing through the entire event by ensuring
adequate manpower and logistical support such as emergency
medical teams, evacuation plans, meals and transport were
rendered. The NDP 2016 also saw 150 special-needs participants
including MINDS clients, leading the crowd in hand-signing two
popular songs.

MINDS client proudly posing a photo of his snow-skin mooncake
he made with the Dell volunteer

Apart from organising volunteer activities, Dell Inc. also donated
24 new computers and six tablets in 2016 to MINDS under the
Dell Youth Learning Programme in an effort to reduce digital
divide and bring technology literacy to more young people
at MINDS.
Nomura Halloween Party 2016
Nomura Singapore organised a “Nomura Spooktacular
Halloween Party” on 28 October 2016 for MINDS clients on its
premises at Marina Bay Financial Centre. The office was not only
festooned with Halloween decorations such as spiders, cobwebs,
bats and skeletons, the games and activities prepared were also
Halloween-themed. The clients had the opportunity to paint their
own Halloween masks, airbrush beautiful Halloween-themed
tattoos, play card and ball games, and watch a spectacular
magic show.
This is the second year Nomura Singapore had organised a party
for MINDS, providing an opportunity for the staff to interact with
the clients. In addition, Nomura Singapore had also organised
internal fundraising events which raised more than S$21,000
for MINDS. Nomura Singapore had also sponsored the first Film
Festival MINDS organised, helping to raise awareness about
PWIDs among members of the public.

Dell Inc.
MINDS’ long-time partner, Dell Inc., organised a number of
volunteer sessions to rally their staff to get involved in supporting
MINDS and making a positive impact with PWIDs. In September
2016, they organised an interactive workshop where MINDS
clients from SMEDC, JTDC and TTDC as well as volunteers from
Dell Inc. learned to make snow-skin mooncakes and lanterns to
share with their loved ones at home. Apart from this, Dell Inc.
organised two more outings with clients from MINDS Me Too!
Club. In one of the outings, they brought the clients out to soak
in the festive cheer at Chinatown during the Chinese New Year as
they shopped for their favourite New Year goodies and snacks.   
The magician grabbed the attention of all the clients during Nomura’s
Spooktacular Halloween Party
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The staff of Special Olympics Korea warmly welcome the MINDS Perform
entourage at Incheon International Airport received by the staff of
Special Olympics Korea

The two contingents were splashed in purple as MINDS joined HSBC
Bank and Maybank Singapore to form two contingents to celebrate
persons with special needs

Purple Parade 2016
For the third year running, MINDS participated in the Purple
Parade, a movement that supports the inclusion and celebrates
the abilities of persons with special needs where MINDS
partnered with both HSBC and Maybank Singapore to form
two contingents.   This year, MINDS partnered with HSBC Bank
to form a Hawaiian-themed contingent named “One Ohana!”,
symbolising the inclusion of persons with and without special
needs as one family. MINDS also formed the second contingent
with Maybank Singapore named “You are a STAR!”, where the
star signifies the unique identity each individual holds. Just like a
star, the message sent across was that every one of us can shine
in our own ways even in the darkest moments. The event saw
more than 130 MINDS clients, staff and caregivers supporting
the movement.
HMCS Vancouver Visit to ETDC
On 14 October 2016, the crew from HMCS Vancouver, a Halifaxclass frigate from the Royal Canadian Navy visited ETDC, where
the crew interacted with the clients through games and activities.
The clients had the opportunity to get to know these foreign
visitors better as they sang songs together and chatted with each
other during their breaks. The event ended with an exchange of
gifts where Ms Donna Chia, Head of ETDC presented a painting
done by one of the clients to the captain of the ship, whilst the
clients took delight in the souvenirs the crew had prepared
for them.

HSBC MBAS Project
The Helping, Support & Building Capabilities of MINDS
Beneficiaries through Arts & Sports (HSBC MBAS) Project was
set in motion in 2016 with a grant of S$500,000 given by HSBC
Bank disbursed over three years to MINDS in an effort to build
the capabilities of MINDS clients in the arts and sports. MINDS
Perform has since benefitted from this project where they were
given the opportunity to participate and train at the Pyeongchang
Special Music & Art Festival 2017 in South Korea organised
by Special Olympics Korea. The festival brings intellectually
challenged participants majoring in music from all over the world
together where they learned from professional music artists to
hone their musical skills.  

The celebration culminated in a lighting ceremony, where the acronym
“WDSD” was illuminated with beautiful neon lights and glow-in-the-dark
handprints of students from the two schools

World Down Syndrome Day 2017
On 21 March 2017, MINDS celebrated World Down Syndrome
Day at FGS with the official opening of the “Friendship Gate”, a
physical gate that links FGS with Fernvale Primary School (FPS),
an MOE mainstream school. Symptomatic of the close relations
and cooperation between both schools, the gate was built to
close the physical distance between both schools and enable
more opportunities for students of both schools to interact and
share resources. Gracing the event was Toh Puan Dr Noor Aishah,
wife of First President (1965-1970) of Singapore—Mr. Yusof Ishak
as Guest-of-Honour, and Dr Lam Pin Min as special guest where
both officiated the opening of “Fernvale Alliance Airport”, a
library located on the ground floor of FPS to allow easier access
for FGS students.
This is the third consecutive year that MINDS has celebrated World
Down Syndrome Day in an effort to raise awareness for persons
with Down syndrome. This year, the theme for World Down
Syndrome Day was “My Voice, My Community”. Down Syndrome
International had called for organisations and supporters to wear
colourful socks as a symbolic front for the cause.

Posing a group shot: the clients enjoyed their time with the crew as they
danced and sang to popular songs such as “Gangnam Style”
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MINDS MYG

The beneficiaries dashing to the finish line with all their might
Photo source: Standard Chartered Singapore Facebook

INTRODUCTION
MINDS MYG is a subsidiary voluntary wing of MINDS. Comprising
10 different projects, it provides weekly training, social and
recreational activities for beneficiaries on either Saturdays or
Sundays in different parts of Singapore to serve PWIDs.
Through regular volunteering activities, MINDS clients would
be able to benefit from the social interactions and meaningful
engagements, enabling them to participate as fully as possible
in society.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

The ACID 2016 was one of the most anticipated events for MINDS clients as
they get to enjoy an array of activities that put their skills to test. This year,
one of the most memorable activities the clients attempted was rock climbing  

ACID Camp 2016
The Annual Camp for the Intellectually Disabled (ACID) 2016
kicked off in June 2016 at ITE College Central, creating a bundle
of experience and unforgettable memories for MINDS MYG’s
beneficiaries. This year, the ACID Camp aimed to challenge and
push them beyond their comfort zone. One of the highlights
was the indoor rock-climbing activity, where the beneficiaries
underwent and conquered the indoor rock climbing walls
at Kallang Wave Mall. There was hesitance in many of the
beneficiaries when they saw the daunting height of the wall.
However, after lots of encouragement from the volunteers, they
managed to conquer the wall, in slow and steady step.
The activities that were panned out for the beneficiaries might
not be the same every year, but what stays the same was the
passion the volunteers have and the looks of satisfaction from
the beneficiaries as they spent the two days together, getting to
know a little bit more about themselves, and strengthening their
existing friendships.

Standard Chartered Marathon’s Kids Dash 2016
In the month of December, MINDS MYG participated in the
Standard Chartered Marathon Kids Dash together with their
beneficiaries where the volunteers ran alongside them, shouting
words of encouragement to keep them going all the way to the
finish line. Donned in lime-green shirts, the beneficiaries were all
eager beavers to reach the finish line as fast as they could.
The determination to cross the finish line was one of the main
motivations for the volunteers to find activities that challenge
their limits. MINDS MYG will certainly participate in more of such
runs in the future to enhance their well-being through meaningful
engagements.

The MINDS MYG volunteers and beneficiaries were all training
hard for the upcoming competition

Special Olympics Singapore 2017
In 2016, MINDS MYG selected a group of beneficiaries to
represent MINDS MYG to participate in the upcoming Special
Olympics Singapore 2017 in bocce and soccer competition.
The trainings were held regularly with a group of MINDS MYG
volunteers stepping up to be part of the Special Olympics
Singapore coaches to equip the beneficiaries with the
appropriate skills and competencies. In the course of six months,
they have shown tremendous improvement in their soccer and
bocce skills.
The improvement they have shown during trainings is testament
to the amount of hard work they have put in and determination to
overcome all odds to achieve their goals. Credit goes to the group
of volunteers who were with them rain or shine to ensure they
would perform their best during the actual competition.
MINDS MYG endeavours to continue to work alongside them to
support them in every way so as to enable them to put their best
foot forward in the games.   
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HUMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT
HEAD COUNT
Sector Headcount
MINDS has 270 teaching and non-teaching employees across
4 Special Schools. Under the Residential, Community-Based
Care Services which consist of Homes, Training & Development
Centres, Me Too! Club and Community-Based Home, there are
195 employees. Under the Social Enterprise & Employment
Development which consists of Employment Development
Centres, Hi-Job! and Social Enterprises, there are 171 employees.
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Headcount Year-on-Year
MINDS headcount grew by approximately 5% in FY16/17
compared to FY15/16. This was mainly attributed to the increase
in direct care support headcount for example, Training Officers,
Allied Health Professionals and Nursing Aides.
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HUMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT
RECRUITMENT
MINDS Job Fair for Training Officers
MINDS collaborated with e2i to organise a dedicated job fair
for the recruitment of Training Officers. At the fair, a work trial
programme was launched. Work trial is a way of trying out a
potential employee before a job is offered. Work trial applicants
were attached to participating centres for 10 days. They also
received a daily allowance of $60 from e2i.
There was a turnout of 200 people at the Devan Nair Institute.
More than 40 applicants signed up for the work trial to be Training
Officers. 18 applicants have completed the 10 day work trials. 9
of them have been offered full-time employment at our centres.

Ms Puteri Arine Masturi
Binte Abdullah

Ms Elizabeth Chua Kia Hui

MINDS—ITE Sponsorship
MINDS collaborated with ITE to sponsor final year students from
NITEC in Community Care and Social Service on their final year
school fees. The total sponsorship per student costs $6,366. The
purpose is to create a recruitment pipeline for Training Officers.
In November 2016, HR went on a road show to promote the
sponsorship at ITE Simei. After the intensive selection interview,
MINDS is proud to sponsor Ms Nur Puteri Arine Masturi Binte
Abdullah and Ms Elizabeth Chua Kia Hui for their final year
studies.
Woodlands Employment Development Centre is the Pilot Centre
for the initiative. Ms Nur Puteri and Ms Elizabeth will be deployed
there when they graduate in December 2017.

STAFF TRAINING

Staff from MINDS Training and Development Centres

TRAINING PARTICIPATION RATE BY SECTOR
% of staff who achieved at least 40 training hours

71
57*

50
37

36
26

Our staff from the adult centres conducting on-the-spot interviews

AHP

SCHOOL - SCHOOL Teaching
NonStaff
teaching
Staff

RCCS

HQ

SEED

*  Achieved 80 training hours
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HUMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT

MINDS staff sharing their experiences working in MINDS
over the appreciation dinner

HR INITIATIVES
Employee Performance Appraisals
In
2016, MINDS
launched
the
new
performance
appraisals. Working committees represented by the Allied
Health Professionals, Special Schools, Residential & CommunityBased Care Services, and Social Enterprise & Employment
Development were formed in 2015 to review and develop the
system.  The changes were made because we want to:
• Align outcomes to the programme strategic thrusts;
• Give emphasis to the planning and execution of the sector’s
strategic plan;
• Raise the expectation on performance;
• Be conscientious in our effort to develop employees; and
• Be conscientious in helping under-performing employees
    improve
Insurance
General, employee, and vehicle coverage continue to be insured
and were awarded through a public tender exercise last year.
Human Resource Information System (HRIS)
With the current version phased out, we started looking for a
vendor to help MINDS Human Resource Department to manage
the daily administration productively, reduce  error with regards
to policy enforcements and to empower employees to self-help
and do their own HR-related tasks and data entry and thus, take
the burden off HR’s shoulders.
Through public tender conducted last year, we found a new
vendor and the HRIS is currently under development.
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Some of our long-service staff in MINDS

Appreciation Dinner for MINDS Long Service Employees
MINDS organized an appreciation dinner for its long service
employees with 25 years’ service and above. The dinner was
our way of expressing thanks and gratitude for their loyalty and
commitment to the organisation. The sit down dinner was hosted
on 19 January 2017, and attended by more than 40 employees.

SCHOLARSHIPS
Chen Yingyi,
Psychologist
Master of Arts (Applied Psychology),
National Institute of Education (NIE)

Tay Yu Ping,
Social Worker
Master of Social Work,
National University of Singapore (NUS)

Gouw Ming Zhi Natasha Elizabeth,
Speech Therapist
Master of Speech Language Pathology,
University of Sydney
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
5-YEAR FINANCIAL TREND
$60.0

$49.1

$50.0

$41.0

$40.0

$36.1

$30.0

$4.9

$52.1

$44.8

$48.0

$10.1

$4.1

$42.7
$41.8

$39.3

$20.0
$10.0

$54.9

$7.4

$3.4

$0.0
2013

2014

2015

Income

Expenses

INCOME BREAKDOWN FOR FY2016/17
$2.7

2016
Surplus

EXPENDITURE BREAKDOWN FOR FY2016/17

$1.1 $0.9

$3.5

$1.6

2017

$2.0

$2.1
$6.1

$34.3

$45.8

TOTAL INCOME: $52.1M

TOTAL EXPENDITURE: $48.0M

Government subventions

Donations

Staff costs

Facilities cost

Social enterprise and other income

Programme fees

Social enterprise cost

Programme cost

Investment income

Other exp

In the Financial Year 2016/17, we received $52.1M in income from various sources and spent a total of $48.0M in Expenditure for
more than 2,300 clients. The decline in income from previous year came mainly from the change of funding model. We started our
6th Training & Development Centre in Jurong to admit more clients who are on the waiting list. The restricted surpluses from both the
Schools and the Association will be used for building programme capacities and capabilities.
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STATEMENT BY
THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (THE “EXCO”) AND CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS
The EXCO oversees and directs the overall management of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore (“MINDS”),
approves its board policies and strategies and governs its financial affairs. It conducts regular scheduled meetings. Adhoc meetings
are also convened when circumstances require. Nine (9) meetings were held in the financial year 2016/2017.
Specialised Committees provide support to the EXCO. Members of these committees are appointed by the EXCO itself. The Finance
and Investment Committee provides support in governing the financial affairs of MINDS.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Audit Risk Committee oversees internal controls and the results of internal audit work.
The EXCO has adopted the policy of declaration by the EXCO members and senior management staff of any personal interests that
may affect the integrity, fairness and accountability to MINDS.

OPINION
The EXCO is of the view that MINDS currently has adequate internal controls to authorise and approve transactions and to safeguard
its assets and investments. It is satisfied with the organisation’s compliance with the relevant Code of Governance and the financial
disclosure requirements.
In its opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of MINDS
as at 31 March 2017 in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and the results of its operations,
changes in funds and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

On behalf of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong
President

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua
Honorary Treasurer
Singapore
28 June 2017
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MOVEMENT FOR THE INTELLECTUALLY
DISABLED OF SINGAPORE
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore (the “Charity”) which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and
statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act,
Chapter 311 (the Act), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the Charities Act and Regulations) and Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of MINDS as at 31 March
2017 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Charity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Charity in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics
for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other information
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions
of the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Charity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Charity’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charity’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Charity to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion:
(a)

the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Charity have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Societies Regulations enacted under the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations; and

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:
(a)

the Charity has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under Regulation 11 of the Charities
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b)

the Charity has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character)
Regulations

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
28 June 2017
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STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Note

Income
Income from donations
Miscellaneous income
Interest income from bonds
Interest income from bank and
fixed deposits
Programme income
Contract work and other
income
Total income
Expenditure
Direct cost incurred for
contract work
Depreciation
Minor works, repairs and
maintenance of property,
plant and equipment
Other operating expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Programme costs
Amortisation of bonds
premium
Total expenditure

5

7

6
8

Operating surplus/(deficit)
before government grant
Grants
Grant income
Amortisation of deferred
capital grants
Surplus for the year,
representing total
comprehensive income
for the year

Unrestricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$
(Restated)

Restricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$
(Restated)

2017
$

Total

2016
$
(Restated)

1,046,251
22,946
355,382

944,213
−
435,259

587,435
31,739
−

531,563
18,365
−

1,633,686
30,983
355,382

1,475,776
18,365
435,259

462,672
−

295,179
−

26,951
1,058,941

24,807
796,403

489,623
1,058,941

319,986
796,403

7,353
1,894,604

9,747
1,684,398

2,643,583
4,348,649

2,535,802
3,906,940

2,650,936
6,219,551

2,545,549
5,591,338

−
(231,358)

(1,469)
−

(2,094,833)
(4,203,623)

(2,076,697)
(2,744,789)

(2,094,833)
(4,433,795)

(2,078,166)
(2,744,789)

(19,836)
(296,160)
(710,834)
(32,086)

(4,851) (4,353,341) (4,160,553) (4,373,177) (4,165,404)
(506,067) (1,619,489) (2,556,175) (1,893,135) (3,062,242)
(710,508) (33,595,295) (32,183,906) (34,306,129) (32,894,414)
(23,217) (3,426,313) (2,109,053) (3,458,398) (2,132,270)

(117,016)
(1,407,290)

(63,496)
−
−
(117,016)
(63,496)
(1,309,608) (49,292,894) (45,831,173) (50,676,483) (47,140,781)

487,314

374,790

(44,944,245) (41,924,233) (44,456,932) (41,549,443)

5

−

13,892

45,838,663

49,288,712

45,838,663

49,302,604

13

−

−

2,719,860

2,359,096

2,719,861

2,359,096

487,314

388,682

3,614,278

9,723,575

4,101,592

10,112,257

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Note

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Held-to-maturity investments
Fixed deposits
Total non-current assets

2017
$

2015

2016
$
(Restated)

$
(Restated)

7
8
10

34,554,956
6,564,649
7,370,445
48,490,050

38,309,527
13,693,500
−
52,003,027

37,411,256
14,007,878
−
51,419,134

8
9

4,012,717
3,969,198
335,155
935,954
26,850,816
15,408,459
51,512,299

250,882
3,179,786
279,883
791,664
29,582,834
12,931,824
47,016,873

1,000,500
1,974,585
415,365
789,690
24,162,179
7,950,117
36,292,436

100,002,349

99,019,900

87,711,570

4,559,813
1,260
4,561,073

5,209,335
1,260
5,210,595

3,760,266
1,260
3,761,526

29,519,178

41,806,278

32,530,910

33,880,595
860
33,881,455

36,349,065
2,011
36,351,076

36,600,909
3,163
36,604,072

Total liabilities

38,442,528

41,571,671

40,365,598

Net assets

61,559,821

57,458,229

47,345,972

Current assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Pledged deposits
Fixed deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

10
10
10

Total assets
FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Obligation under finance lease
Total current liabilities

11
12

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants
Obligation under finance lease
Total non-current liabilities

13
12

Funds
Unrestricted funds

14

16,249,083

15,278,770

14,229,206

Programmes restricted funds
Other restricted funds
Schools’ restricted funds
Building maintenance fund
Total restricted funds

14
14
14
14
14

12,601,815
15,361,358
16,620,968
726,597
45,310,738

8,715,437
16,868,073
15,579,035
1,016,914
42,179,459

6,147,442
12,270,176
13,612,986
1,086,162
33,116,766

Total funds

14

61,559,821

57,458,229

47,345,972

100,002,349

99,019,900

87,711,570

Total funds and liabilities

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN FUNDS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Unrestricted
Funds
(Note 14)
$

Restricted
Funds
(Note 14)
$

Total
$

At 1 April 2015, as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (Note 21)

15,247,077
(1,017,871)

33,116,766
−

48,363,843
(1,017,871)

At 1 April 2015, as restated
Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer between funds

14,229,206
388,682
660,882

33,116,766
9,723,575
(660,882)

47,345,972
10,112,257
−

At 31 March 2016, as restated

15,278,770

42,179,459

57,458,229

At 1 April 2016, as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (Note 21)

16,717,512
(1,438,742)

42,179,459
−

58,896,971
(1,438,742)

At 1 April 2016, as restated
Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer between funds

15,278,770
487,314
482,999

42,179,459
3,614,278
(482,999)

57,458,229
4,101,592
−

At 31 March 2017

16,249,083

45,310,738

61,559,821

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of deferred capital grants
Deferred capital grant written off
Amortisation of bonds premium
Operating grant income
Interest income from bonds
Interest income from bank and fixed deposits
Property, plant and equipment written off

7
13
13
8

Operating cash flows before working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Cash used in operations, representing net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Interest income from bonds
Interest income from bank and fixed deposits
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments
Increase in fixed deposits
Placement of pledged deposits

7
8

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Deferred capital grants received
Operating grants received

13

Net cash generated from financing activities

2017
$

2016
$
(Restated)

4,101,592

10,112,257

4,433,795
(2,719,861)
(19,302)
117,016
(45,838,663)
(355,382)
(489,623)
93,402

2,744,789
(2,359,096)
(300)
63,496
(49,302,604)
(435,259)
(319,986)
511

(40,677,026)

(39,496,192)

535,780
(55,272)
(675,515)

(896,521)
135,482
1,386,446

(40,872,033)

(38,870,785)

(772,626)
355,382
489,623
3,250,000
(4,638,427)
(144,290)

(3,643,571)
435,259
319,986
1,000,500
(5,420,655)
(1,974)

(1,460,338)

(7,310,455)

(1,151)
270,693
44,539,464

(1,152)
2,107,552
49,056,547

44,809,006

51,162,947

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

10

2,476,635
12,931,824

4,981,707
7,950,117

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

10

15,408,459

12,931,824

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

1.		 CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore (“MINDS”) is registered and domiciled in Singapore under the
Societies Act, Cap 311. The principal place of activities of MINDS headquarters is:
800 Margaret Drive
Singapore 149310
The principal activity of MINDS is to operate Special Education Schools, Employment Development Centres, Training &
Development Centres and Residential Services in order to maximise the development, well-being and aspirations of persons
with intellectual disability. These financial statements represent the financial statements of MINDS headquarters, the Special
Education Schools (“Schools”), Employment Development Centres (“EDCs”), Training & Development Centres (“TDCs”) and
Residential Services, administered by MINDS. The various programmes are:
Schools
Fernvale Gardens School
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School
Towner Gardens School
Woodlands Gardens School
EDCs
IDEA Employment Development Centre
SIA – MINDS Employment Development Centre
Woodlands Employment Development Centre
TDCs
Ang Mo Kio Training & Development Centre
Clementi Training & Development Centre
EunosTraining & Development Centre
Jurong Training & Development Centre
Napiri Training & Development Centre
Tampines Training & Development Centre
Residential Services
MINDSVille@Napiri – Home
MINDSVille@Napiri – Hostel
MINDSVille@Napiri – Children’s Wing
Others
Job Placement and Job Support Service
Community Group Home
MINDS MYG
Home Based Care Services
Me Too! Club
MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Development Disabilities
MINDS Developmental Disabilities Medical Clinic
MINDS is registered as a charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and is also approved as an Institution of a Public Character
(“IPC”). The IPC status will expire on 30 September 2019.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2.		 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current financial year, the
MINDS has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after
1 April 2016. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the MINDS.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective
The MINDS has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective:
Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

Description
Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to FRS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
FRS 115: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
FRS 109: Financial Instruments
Amendments to FRS 102 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions
Amendments to FRS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
FRS 116 Leases
Amendments to FRS 110 and FRS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to FRS 104 Applying FRS 109 Financial Instruments with FRS 104 Insurance
Contracts
INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

  1 January 2017
1 January 2017
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
  1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2019
Date to be determined
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

Except for FRS 115 and FRS 109, the Executive Committee expect that the adoption of the other standards above will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the impending
changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 115 and FRS 109 are described below.
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
FRS 115 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under FRS 115, revenue
is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in FRS 115 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising
revenue when the promised goods and services are transferred to the customer i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied.
Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after1 January 2018 with early
adoption permitted. MINDS is currently assessing the impact of FRS 115 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required
effective date.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2.		 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)
FRS 109 Financial Instruments
In December 2014, the Accounting Standards Council Singapore (“ASC”) issued the FRS 109 Financial Instruments which
reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. FRS 109 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application
is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. The adoption of FRS 109 will have an effect on the classification
and measurement of the MINDS financial assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of the MINDS
financial liabilities.

2.4 Foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also MINDS functional currency.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of MINDS and are recorded on initial recognition in
the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translation monetary items at the end of the reporting
period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and
equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Property, plant and
equipment which cost less than $500 individually are charged to profit or loss in the year of purchase.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Kitchen equipment
Outdoor equipment
Audio-visual equipment
Musical equipment
Motor vehicles

-

30 years
5 years
3 years
3 years
3 years
3 years
3 years
5 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively,
if appropriate.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2.		 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Executive Committee assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Executive Committee makes an
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value
less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified,
an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair
value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously revalued where
the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

2.7 Financial instruments
(a)		

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. MINDS determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
(i)

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are
classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(ii)

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity when MINDS has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Subsequent
to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

De-recognition
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.		 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.7 Financial instruments (cont’d)
(b)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. MINDS determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.
De-recognition
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

2.8 Impairment of financial assets
The Executive Committee assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Executive Committee first assesses objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Executive Committee determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an amount was
charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of
the financial asset.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Executive
Committee considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or
significant delay in payments.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in
profit or loss.
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2.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.10Provisions
Provisions are recognised when MINDS has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the
obligation can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as a finance cost.

2.11 Employee benefits
(a)

Defined contribution plans
MINDS makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
service is performed.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. The estimated
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. MINDS does not
allow any encashment of unutilised leave.

2.12Leases
Finance leases which transfer to MINDS substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item,
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the
finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

2.13Income
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to MINDS and the income can be
reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Income is measured at the fair value of consideration received or
receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment.
(a)

Donations
Donations of cash or assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as and when MINDS obtains
control of the donation or the right to receive the donation; it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the
donation will flows to MINDS; and the amount of the donation can be measured reliably.
Donations in kind such as second-hand goods donated for resale are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income
in the period in which the goods donated are sold.
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2.13Income (cont’d)
(b)

Grant income (cont’d)
Subventions and grants from government organisations and other bodies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income only when there is reasonable assurance that MINDS has complied with the conditions of the grants.
Such grants are recognised at fair value. Operating grants are calculated based on funding principles of the relevant
government organisations.
Subsequent adjustments to operating grants are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in
which they are finalised by the relevant government organisations.
Grants received but not utilised which are repayable are included under liabilities in the statement of financial position.
Grant income is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for government grants as detailed in
Note 2.14 below.

(c)

Rendering of services
Income from providing services such as contract work income, programme fees and other income is recognised when the
services are rendered.

(d)

Interest income and investment income
Interest income on bank accounts, fixed deposits placed with banks and bonds are recognised with reference to the
principal outstanding and the rate applicable using the effective interest method.

2.14 Government grant income
Grants income are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will
be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of
financial position and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match the depreciation of the assets with
the related grants. On disposal of plant and equipment, the balance of related grants is recognised in profit or loss to match the
carrying amounts of the plant and equipment disposed.
Operating grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the cost for which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to MINDS with no future related cost are recognised in income
or expenditure in the period in which they become receivable.
Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an interest rate below the current
applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is regarded as additional government grant.

2.15Funds
Fund balances restricted by external sources are indicated and are distinguished from unrestricted funds allocated to specific
purposes, if any, by action of the Executive Committee. Externally restricted funds may only be utilised in accordance with the
purposes established by the source of such funds. The Executive Committee retains full control to use the unrestricted funds in
achieving any of its institutional purposes.
In the financial statements, four main groups of funds are distinguished: the Unrestricted Funds, Other Restricted Funds, Schools’
Restricted Funds and the Building Maintenance Funds. Profit or loss relating to specific activities are accounted for directly in
the funds to which they relate.
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2.15Funds (cont’d)
(a)

Restricted Funds
The Other Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or purposes:
Name of fund

Project/Purpose

Programmes Restricted Funds

Income or expenditure relating to the running of programmes supported by
funding bodies is accounted for in these Funds from 1 April 2009 onwards.

Central Relief Fund

For the provision of supplementary income in the form of food rations and
financial grants to families, particularly those with intellectually disabled
children, who are living mainly at subsistence level and are dependent on
assistance from welfare agencies.

Designated Donation Fund

Relates to various contributions/donations received from different donors
for specific purposes.

Employment Development Services (“EDS”) This represents the corporate partnership with Motorola Solutions
Empowerment Fund
Singapore Pte Ltd working towards empowering our intellectually disabled
clients through providing employment and raising funds to help needy
clients’ families.
MINDS – SIA Community Project Fund

This represents donations received from Singapore Airlines for the welfare
needs of our clients and the purchase of equipment to enhance Employment
Development Centre trainings.

MINDS Special Project Fund

To undertake the development of purpose – built facilities and/or other
approved projects.

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop Fund

The fund represents proceeds from a thrift shop which is set up and
managed by volunteer helpers comprising expatriate wives selling second
hand goods at a shop within MINDS headquarters. The objects of the fund
are to enhance the quality of life of persons with intellectual disabilities.

Care & Share

It is a dollar-to-dollar matching grant provided by the Government to
enhance the capabilities and capacities of the social service sector and
also to meet its rising needs. Disbursement of grants under Care & Share
programme ceased on 31 March 2016.

Community Silver Trust

It is a dollar-to-dollar matching grant provided by the Government to
enhance the capabilities and capacities of the intermediate and long-term
care services in social service sector.

Social Enterprise Funds

Represent the profit or loss amount for its social enterprise activities in
MINDS.
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2.15Funds (cont’d)
(b)

Schools’ Restricted Funds
The Schools’ Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or purposes:

(c)

Name of fund

Project/Purpose

School Fund

This represents funds retained for the operations of the Schools.

Curriculum Enhancement Fund

To promote and sustain school-based initiatives in enhancing the quality of
the Schools curricula and co-curriculum.

Edusave Grant Fund

To conduct enrichment programmes and produce additional equipment
and resource materials to enhance the quality of teaching and learning.

MOE Grant Training Fund

For staff training by the Schools.

Additional Training Vote

For registered Special Education (“SPED”) teacher training.

High Needs Grant

To provide SPED school with additional resources to support students with
exceptionally high needs due to challenging behaviour.

Annual Grant for Discretionary Financial
Assistance (“DFA”)

To subsidize needy students who do not meet the criteria for MOE SPED
FAS but are eligible for SPED School’s own financial subsidy scheme.

Parent Support Group

To enhance partnership efforts with parents and implement new initiatives
to engage parents.

Opportunity fund

For the welfare of needy SPED students.

School pocket money fund

For the welfare of needy SPED students.

Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping Special
School fund

To provide financial assistance to SPED students affected by the economic
downturn. The fund can be utilised to finance students’ cost of transport,
textbooks, uniforms, meals and medicine.

School-to-work (S2W) Prototype Fund

To support a transition programme for work capable SPED students who
are unable to qualify for the current vocational certificate programmes. This
fund is to support the hiring of manpower and purchase of resources for
vocational assessment.

Public Transport Subsidy

To provide a subsidy of $10 per month ($120 per year) to each of SPED
Financial Assistance Scheme (“FAS”) students who declare taking public
transport to school, as long as they are enrolled in the school.

MOE-ICT Development Grant

The MOE ICT Development Fund consists of:
ICT Manpower Grant; and
ICT Equipment and Services Grant

Building Maintenance Fund
This represents funds designated to finance any cyclical maintenance, addition and alteration and building maintenance
works within MINDS.
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2.16Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(a)

a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of MINDS; or

(b)

a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i)

It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; or

(ii)

The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of MINDS.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of MINDS, except for contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

3.		 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
In the application of MINDS’ accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Management did not make any material estimates that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.
Judgement made in accounting policies
In the process of applying accounting policies, MINDS has made the following judgements which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Government operating grants
Government grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the income and expenditure statement on the
accrual basis in the year these operating expenses were incurred and there is reasonable assurance that the MINDS will comply
with the conditions attached to it. For certain grants, the government agencies reserve the right to withdraw, withhold or reduce
the amount of any funds approved but not yet disbursed or to call for the refund of all funds which have been disbursed to the
MINDS if the conditions are not met.
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4.		 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
A related party includes trustees/office bearers and key management of MINDS. It includes an entity or person that directly
or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common or joint control with these persons. It also includes members or
close members of the family of any individual referred to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control or
significantly influence by or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, by any such
individual.
The trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them have not received remuneration or other benefits except as
disclosed below from MINDS for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with MINDS.
There is no claim by the trustees/office bearers for services provided to MINDS, either by reimbursement to the trustees/office
bearers or by providing the trustees/office bearers with an allowance by direct payment to a third party.
All trustees/office bearers, and staff members of MINDS is required to read and understand the conflict of interest policy and
make full disclosure of their interests. When a conflict of interest situation arises, the members or staffs shall abstain from
participating in the discussion, decision making and voting on the matter.
During the financial year, the Executive Committee has participated in a conference held in Australia and Strategic Planning
discussion amounting to $4,912 (2016: $3,095).
Remuneration of key management staff
Included in staff costs are remuneration paid to key management staff as follows:
2017
$
Salaries and related costs
Contribution to Central Provident Fund

2016
$

1,741,445
125,345
1,866,790

1,699,112
117,066
1,816,178

The top executives are remunerated in bands of $150,001 to $300,000 per annum.
2017
From $250,001 to $300,000
From $200,001 to $250,000
From $150,001 to $200,000

2016
1
–
7

1
–
2

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, bonuses, annual wages supplement, annual variable components and contributions to
Central Provident Fund.
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5.		 INCOME
Unrestricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$
Grant income
Ministry of Education
National Council of Social Service
Ministry of Social and Family
Development
SG Enable
TOTE Board
Others
Programme income
Programme Fees
School Fees

Restricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$

2017
$

Total

2016
$

−
−

−
−

17,092,563
10,884,160

17,772,377
16,327,155

17,092,563
10,884,160

17,772,377
16,327,155

−
−
−
−
−

−

13,635,493
1,444,240
2,078,241
703,966
45,838,663

12,054,743
1,473,775
552,724
1,107,938
49,288,712

13,635,493
1,444,240
2,078,241
703,966
45,838,663

12,054,743
1,473,775
552,724
1,121,830
49,302,604

816,828
242,113
1,058,941

588,491
207,912
796,403

816,828
242,113
1,058,941

588,491
207,912
796,403

−
−
−

−
−

13,892
13,892
−

−
−

6.		 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES
2017
$
Salaries and related costs
Contribution to Central Provident Fund
Other short term benefits

29,015,567
4,223,347
1,067,215
34,306,129

2016
$

28,118,513
4,147,845
628,056

32,894,414

Included in employee benefits expenses are salaries, allowances, bonuses, employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund,
recruitment expenses, staff training and development costs, and other staff related benefits.
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56,160,666
−
(2,060,533)
54,100,133
−
−
54,100,133
20,428,133
1,870,246
(2,060,533)
20,237,846
1,850,701
−
22,088,547
32,011,586
33,862,287

At 31 March 2016
Additions
Written off

At 31 March 2017

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2015
Charge for the financial year
Written off

At 31 March 2016
Charge for the financial year
Written off

At 31 March 2017

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2016

Buildings
$

Cost:
At 1 April 2015
Addition
Written off

7.		 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017
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3,424,729

1,744,038

2,537,281

806,759
1,768,994
(38,472)

498,699
320,048
(11,988)

4,281,319

4,231,488
180,425
(130,594)

1,320,509
2,922,967
(11,988)

60,468
91,883

365,514

256,556

2,057,331
273,737

208,828
58,398
(10,670)

1,910,621
397,184
(250,474)

317,024

2,331,068
162,571
53,377
(7,120)

300,711
26,983
(10,670)

2,276,135
306,687
(251,754)

1,734,968
265,444
(89,791)

253,813
54,018
(7,120)

Kitchen
equipment
$

1,960,648
405,629
(90,142)

Office
Furniture and
fittings
equipment
$
$

45,381

50,949

188,950

164,694
28,698
(4,442)

150,483
27,703
(13,492)

239,899

210,075
34,266
(4,442)

208,730
14,837
(13,492)

Outdoor
equipment
$

181,519

148,146

634,300

544,598
139,622
(49,920)

517,742
81,942
(55,086)

782,446

726,117
106,249
(49,920)

642,677
138,686
(55,246)

Audio−
visual
equipment
$

485

1,915

24,028

23,568
460
−

27,006
508
(3,946)

25,943

24,053
1,890
−

27,999
−
(3,946)

Musical
equipment
$

337,729

264,117

766,444

660,206
189,738
(83,500)

534,685
125,521
−

1,030,561

997,935
116,126
(83,500)

890,501
107,434
−

Motor
vehicles
$

38,309,527

34,554,956

28,553,438

24,557,120
4,433,795
(437,478)

24,054,287
2,744,789
(2,241,956)

63,108,393

62,866,647
772,626
(530,880)

61,465,543
3,643,571
(2,242,467)

Total
$
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7.		 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
Buildings with a net book value of $14,119,764 (2016:$15,145,210) were designated by MOE for use as purpose-built special
education schools.
The carrying amount of office equipment held under finance leases at the end of the reporting period were Nil (2016: $3,924).

8.		 HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS
2017
$
Current
Bonds (quoted)
Non-current
Bonds (quoted)
Total held-to-maturity investments
Movement in held-to-maturity investments:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments at par value
Amortisation of bond premium

2016
$

4,012,717

250,882

6,564,649
10,577,366

13,693,500
13,944,382

13,944,382
(3,250,000)
(117,016)
10,577,366

15,008,378
(1,000,500)
(63,496)
13,944,382

The quoted bonds are stated at amortised cost and have fair values amounting to $10,500,000 (2016:$14,250,000), with coupon
rates ranging from 2.22% to 4.25% (2016: 2.22 % to 4.25 %) per annum and maturity dates ranging from 2017 to 2022.

9.		 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2017
$
Trade receivables
Contract work receivables
Other receivables
Grant receivables
Other receivables
Deposits
Total trade and other receivables
Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)
Fixed deposits (including pledged deposits) (Note 10)
Total loans and receivables

2016
$

151,865

340,305

2,863,119
890,610
63,604

1,537,927
1,250,773
50,781

3,969,198
15,408,459
35,157,215
54,534,872

3,179,786
12,931,824
30,374,498
46,486,108

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ term. They are recognised at their original invoice
amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.
Other receivable are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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9.		 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
MINDS has trade receivables amounting to $31,832 (2016:$195,435) that are past due but not impaired at the end of the
financial year. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their ageing at the end of the financial year is as follows:
2017
$
Trade receivables past due
Less than 30 days
30 to 60 days
More than 60 days

17,168
2,952
11,712
31,832

2016
$
179,363
6,946
9,126
195,435

Receivables that are past due and impaired
MINDS has no (2016:Nil) trade receivables that are past due and impaired at the end of the financial year.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2017
$
Cash on hand
Cash at banks
Fixed deposits
Less:

14,127
15,394,332
35,157,215

2016
$
10,635
12,921,189
30,374,498

50,565,674
43,306,322
(7,370,445)
−
(26,850,816) (29,582,834)
(935,954)
(791,664)

Fixed deposits (non-current)
Fixed deposits (current)
Pledged deposits

Total cash and cash equivalents presented in
    statement of cash flows

15,408,459

12,931,824

Cash at banks are held in interest bearing accounts at an average rate of 0.01% (2016: 0.05%) per annum.
The fixed deposits will mature within 1 to 18 months (2016: 1 to 12 months) from the financial year end and earn interest rates
ranging from 0.35% to 1.65% (2016: 0.25% to 2.58%) per annum. Fixed deposits with maturity date more than 3 months from
31 March are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.
The pledged deposits of $935,954 (2016: $791,664) are pledged with a bank for issuance of letters of guarantees to the
Commissioner of Lands. Pledged deposits are excluded from cash and cash equivalents on basis of its restrictive nature.
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11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2017
$
Trade payables
Contract works payable
Other payables
Accrued operating expenses
Grant received in advance
Other payables
GST Payables
Total trade and other payables
Less: GST Payables
Add: Obligation under finance lease (Note 12)
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

2016
$
(Restated)

772

4,207

2,280,153
281,909
707,103
1,289,876

2,985,659
255,916
524,811
1,438,742

4,559,813
(1,289,876)
2,120

5,209,335
(1,438,742)
3,271

3,272,057

3,773,864

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 days’ term. These amounts are to be settled in cash.
Other payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

12. OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASE
2017
Minimum Present value
payment
of payments
$
$

2016
Minimum Present value
payment
of payments
$
$

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years

1,433
989

1,260
860

1,433
2,312

1,260
2,011

Total minimum lease
Amounts representing finance charges

2,422
(302)

2,120
−

3,745
(474)

3,271
−

Present value of minimum lease payments

2,120

2,120

3,271

3,271

Finance lease relates to a hired purchase of a copier in 2014 over a period of 5 years. The discount rate implicit in the lease is
5.64% (2016: 5.64%) per annum.   

13. DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS
Unrestricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$

Restricted Funds
2017
2016
$
$

2017
$

Total

2016
$

Balance at the beginning of the year
Received during the year
Written off during the year
Amortisation charged during the year

−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−

36,349,065
270,693
(19,302)
(2,719,861)

36,600,909
2,107,552
(300)
(2,359,096)

36,349,065
270,693
(19,302)
(2,719,861)

36,600,909
2,107,552
(300)
(2,359,096)

Balance at the end of year

−

−

33,880,595

36,349,065

33,880,595

36,349,065
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14. FUNDS
Balance at
1 April 2016
$
(Restated)

Receipts

Expenses

Transfer*

Balance at 31
March 2017

$

$

$

$

2017
Unrestricted Funds

15,278,770

1,875,785

(1,388,471)

482,999

16,249,083

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds

8,715,437

24,234,132

(21,134,247)

786,493

12,601,815

Central Relief Fund
Designated Donation Fund
EDS Empowerment Fund

503,024
3,096,613
36,595

24,845
552,653
−

(35,721)
(113,359)
−

−
(390,120)
−

492,148
3,145,787
36,595

MINDS – SIA Community Project Fund
MINDS Special Project Fund

352,058
3,368,326

−
−

−
−

−
−

352,058
3,368,326

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop Fund
Care & Share Grant
Community Silver Trust Fund
AHP Funds
Social Enterprise Funds

664,899
653,268
4,822,739
107,611
3,262,940

48,875
−
−
52,830
2,674,483

(306,024)
(213,055)
(714,861)
−
(2,207,889)

−
(179,458)
(539,473)
(160,441)
−

407,750
260,755
3,568,405
−
3,729,534

Other Restricted Funds

16,868,073

3,353,686

(3,590,909)

(1,269,492)

15,361,358

School Fund
Designated Donations
Curriculum Enhancement Fund
Edusave Grant Fund
MOE Grant Training Fund
Additional Training Vote
High Needs Grant
Annual Grant for DFA
Parent Support Group
Opportunity Fund
School Pocket Money Fund
Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping Special School
Fund
S2W Protype Fund
Public Transport Subsidy
MOE-ICT Development Fund

15,017,272
−
168,422
25,527
179,264
50,324
−
46,102
4,310
68,458
7,319

21,064,846
29,543
36,578
98,095
100,136
16,388
719,739
34,523
5,690
−
7,000

(20,091,248)
(29,543)
(39,328)
(89,036)
(94,484)
(17,698)
(719,739)
(37,684)
(4,455)
(12,953)
(8,000)

−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

15,990,870
−
165,672
34,586
184,916
49,014
−
42,942
5,545
55,505
6,319

6,972
3,925
1,140
−

−
200,000
2,340
391,867

(524)
(170,395)
(2,688)
(347,037)

−
−
−
−

6,448
33,530
792
44,830

Schools’ Restricted Funds

15,579,035

22,706,746

(21,664,813)

−

16,620,968

1,016,914

17,064

(307,381)

−

726,597

Total Restricted Funds

42,179,459

50,311,628

(46,697,350)

(482,999)

45,310,738

Total Funds

57,458,229

52,187,413

(48,085,821)

−

61,559,821

Building Maintenance Fund

* Funds transfer in between programmes are approved by donors and funders and it is disclosed separately for clarity purposes.
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14. FUNDS (CONT’D)
Balance at
1 April 2015
$
(Restated)

Receipts
$

Expenses
$

Balance at 31
March 2016
$
(Restated)

2016
Unrestricted Funds

14,229,606

2,412,052

(1,362,888)

15,278,770

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds

6,147,442

22,199,642

(19,631,647)

8,715,437

Central Relief Fund
Designated Donation Fund
EDS Empowerment Fund
MINDS – SIA Community Project Fund
MINDS Special Project Fund
MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop Fund
Care & Share Grant
Community Silver Trust Fund
AHP Funds
Social Enterprise Funds

530,750
2,906,550
36,599
351,960
3,353,192
610,277
38,116
1,605,078
76,010
2,761,644

27,085
306,987
18
120
15,134
60,677
623,569
4,310,883
31,601
2,656,301

(54,811)
(116,924)
(22)
(22)
−
(6,055)
(8,417)
(1,093,222)
−
(2,155,005)

503,024
3,096,613
36,595
352,058
3,368,326
664,899
653,268
4,822,739
107,611
3,262,940

Other Restricted Funds

12,270,176

8,032,375

(3,434,478)

16,868,073

School Fund
Designated Donations
Curriculum Enhancement Fund
Edusave Grant Fund
MOE Grant Training Fund
Additional Training Vote
High Needs Grant
Annual Grant for DFA
Parent Support Group
Opportunity Fund
School Pocket Money Fund
Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping Special School Fund
S2W Protype Fund
Public Transport Subsidy

13,242,187
−
−
27,494
163,726
54,767
−
6,115
1,987
46,540
9,978
7,192
53,000
−

22,002,775
52,706
205,000
111,129
128,874
11,341
764,222
78,965
8,016
25,503
12,301
−
−
4,920

(20,227,690)
(52,706)
(36,578)
(113,096)
(113,336)
(15,784)
(764,222)
(38,978)
(5,693)
(3,585)
(14,960)
(220)
(49,075)
(3,780)

15,017,272
−
168,422
25,527
179,264
50,324
−
46,102
4,310
68,458
7,319
6,972
3,925
1,140

Schools’ Restricted Funds

13,612,986

23,405,752

(21,439,703)

15,579,035

1,086,162

16,423

(85,671)

1,016,914

Total Restricted Funds

33,116,766

53,654,192

(44,591,499)

42,179,459

Total Funds

47,346,372

56,066,244

(45,954,387)

57,458,229

Building Maintenance Fund
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14. FUNDS (CONT’D)
The assets and liabilities of the other restricted funds, Schools’ restricted funds and Building maintenance fund are
represented by:
2017
$
Programmes & Other restricted funds represented by:
- Property, plant and equipment
- Fixed deposits
- Cash at banks
- Trade and other receivables
- Trade and other payables
Schools’ restricted funds represented by:
- Property, plant and equipment
- Bonds
- Fixed deposits
- Cash at banks
- Trade and other receivables
- Trade and other payables
Building maintenance fund represented by:
- Fixed deposits

2016
$

34,043,494
37,508,217
19,810,284
18,099,096
7,399,203
7,041,078
3,352,391
1,731,059
(36,642,199) (38,795,940)
27,963,173
25,583,510
511,462
7,073,059
1,875,555
8,009,258
556,082
(1,404,448)
16,620,968

801,310
7,118,359
1,366,999
5,890,746
1,728,610
(1,326,989)
15,579,035

726,597

1,016,914

15. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
MINDS has entered into operating leases on the premises and photocopier machines. These leases have an average tenure of
3 to 5 years with no contingent rent provision included in the contracts. The leases include a renewal clause for extending the
lease period for a further 3 years at a rental rate to be agreed between the parties.
Rental expenses for premises and operating leased photocopiers which are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income amounted to $3,079,929 and $36,193 (2016: $2,977,642 and $40,222) respectively.
(i)

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for premises as of 31 March are
as follows:
2017
$
Within one financial year
Between two to five financial years

82

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

1,975,779
2,330,491
4,306,270

2016
$
2,626,182
2,016,128
4,642,310
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15. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)
(ii)

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for photocopier machines as of 31
March are as follows:
2017
$
Within one financial year
Between two to five financial years

37,711
48,355
86,066

2016
$
35,291
63,449
98,740

16. INCOME TAX
MINDS has been granted tax exempt status as a charitable institution under the provisions of the Singapore Income Tax Act. No
provision for income tax has been made in the financial statements.

17. TAX DEDUCTIBLE RECEIPTS
During the financial year, MINDS has issued tax-exempt receipts for donations collected amounting to $810,277 (2016:
$839,362).

18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES
MINDS is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks
include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and market price risk. The Executive Committee reviews and agrees policies
and procedures for the management of these risks. The Executive Committee also provide independent oversight to the
effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, MINDS’
policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. MINDS does not apply hedge accounting.
The following sections provide details regarding MINDS’ exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives,
policies and processes for the management of these risks.
There has been no change to the MINDS’ exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risks.
(a)		

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its
obligations. MINDS’ exposure to credit risk arises primarily from its trade and other receivables. For other financial assets
(including held-to-maturity investments, cash and fixed deposits), MINDS minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with
high credit rating counterparties.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, cash and deposits and held-to-maturity investments represents
MINDS’ maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a significant exposure to credit risk.
Credit risk concentration profile
At the end of the reporting period, approximately 51% of the MINDS trade receivables were due from 1 major customer
which is government linked.
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and
no history of default.
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (CONT’D)
(a)		

Credit risk (Cont’d)
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are receivables from government subvention and
deposits. Cash and fixed deposits and held-to-maturity investments that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with
or entered into with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information on financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

(b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that MINDS will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds.
MINDS’ exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.
MINDS’ objective is to maintain a level of funds deemed adequate by management to finance MINDS’ operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Executive Committee exercises prudent liquidity and cash flow risk
management policies and aims at maintaining a high level of liquidity and cash flow at all times.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of MINDS’ financial assets and liabilities at the statement of financial
position date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
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One year or
less
$

Two to five
years
$

2017
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)
Fixed deposits (Note 10)
Pledged deposits (Note 10)
Total undiscounted financial assets

3,969,198
15,408,459
34,221,261
935,954
54,534,872

−
−
−
−
−

3,969,198
15,408,459
34,221,261
935,954
54,534,872

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11)
Obligation under finance lease (Note 12)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

(4,559,813)
(1,433)
(4,561,246)

−
(989)
(989)

(4,559,813)
(2,422)
(4,562,235)

Total net undiscounted financial assets

49,973,626

(989)

49,972,637
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Total
$
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (CONT’D)
(b)

(c)		

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
One year or
less
$

Two to five
years
$

2016
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)
Fixed deposits (Note 10)
Pledged deposits (Note 10)
Total undiscounted financial assets

3,179,786
12,931,824
29,582,834
791,664
46,486,108

−
−
−
−
−

3,179,786
12,931,824
29,582,834
791,664
46,486,108

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11)
Obligation under finance lease (Note 12)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

(5,209,335)
(1,433)
(5,210,768)

−
(2,312)
(2,312)

(5,209,335)
(3,745)
(5,213,080)

Total net undiscounted financial assets

41,275,340

(2,312)

41,273,028

Total
$

Interest rate risk
MINDS’ income and operating cash flows are, to a substantial extent, affected by changes in market interest rates as it
has significant interest bearing fixed deposits (Note 10). MINDS does not have any significant interest bearing liabilities.
MINDS’ fixed deposits earn interest rates ranging from 0.35% to 1.65% (2016: 0.25% to 2.58%) per annum.
The fixed deposits are exposed to market interest rate risk. MINDS has a policy which governs the investment of surplus
funds including the placement of fixed deposits. Internal guidelines have been set on the minimum investment credit
ratings of the financial institutions where the funds are placed.
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rate risk had been 100 basis points lower/higher with all other variables
held constant, the MINDS’ net income would have been $340,576 (2016: $295,828) lower/higher arising mainly as a result
of lower/higher interest income on fixed deposits.

(d)

Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the MINDS’ financial assets under fund management
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). MINDS is exposed to price risk
arising from its investment in quoted debt instruments. These instruments are quoted on reputable exchanges and are
classified as held to maturity investments.
MINDS manages investment returns and price risk by investing in investment grade debt instruments with low risk of
default and steady dividend yield. At the balance sheet date, all of MINDS’ portfolio consists of investment grade debt
instrument issued by reputable companies and governments.
Sensitivity analysis for price risk
At the balance sheet date, if the fair value of the quoted debt instruments had been 2% (2016: 2%) lower with all other
variables held constant, MINDS’ surplus for the year would have been approximately $211,547 (2016: $278,888) lower,
arising as a result of impairment on the held to maturity investments.
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19. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement of financial position approximates the carrying
amount of those assets and liabilities, as these are short-term in nature except for held-to-maturity investments.
(a)		

Fair value hierarchy
MINDS categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation inputs used
as follows:
- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that MINDS can access at the
measurement date,
- Level 2 – Inputs other than the quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly, and
- Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same level of the
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held to maturity investments are categorized within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

20. MANAGEMENT OF RESERVES
MINDS regards its unrestricted general fund and programmes restricted funds as its reserves. MINDS’ reserve policy requires
it to maintain sufficient reserve to ensure long-term financial sustainability and continuity for the purpose of operating effective
programmes and in providing quality services wholly for the benefit of the intellectually disabled of Singapore.
MINDS aims to achieve about 2 years of its annual total operating expenses as reserves to ensure that its operational activities
could continue in time of unforeseen difficulty.
MINDS is not subject to externally imposed reserve requirement.
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21. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
Previously in prior years, the management claimed GST for purchases which are funded by grants. Prior year adjustments have
been put through to reverse these GST claims.
The restatements made to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015 are summarised
as follows:
Previously
stated
S$

Adjustments
S$

As
restated
S$

As at 31 March 2016
Statement of financial position
Trade and other payables
Unrestricted Funds

3,770,593
16,717,512

1,438,742
(1,438,742)

5,209,335
15,278,770

2,641,371

420,871

3,062,242

2,742,395
15,907,959

1,017,871
(1,017,871)

3,760,266
14,890,088

Statement of comprehensive income
   Other operating expenses
As at 31 March 2015
Statement of financial position
   Other payables and accruals
   Unrestricted Funds

22. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Executive Committee on 28 June 2017.
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PAST YEAR’S
OFFICE BEARERS
Year

President

Vice President

Honorary Secretary

Honorary Treasurer

1961

Mr Warren G Fox

1962 to 1964

Mr Gerald Evelyn De Cruz

1965 to 1966

Mr Wong Cheong Choon

1967 to 1969

Ms D K Vaithilingam

1970 to 1976

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Wong Man Kee

Mg Ng Fook Kah

Mr M N Campos

1977 to 1982

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Wong Man Kee

Mr Ng Fook Kah

Mr Alwyn Lim

1983

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Wong Man Kee

Mr Ng Fook Kah

Mr Tan Keng Sin

1984

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Ms Yong Chui Foong

Mr Alwyn Lim

1985

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Lim Seng Chong

1986

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Robin Chua

1987

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1988

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Dr Victor Seah

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1989

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1990

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Lee Ju Song

1991

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Keng Sin

1992

Mr Lim Ewe Huat

Mr Robin Chua

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1993 to 1994

Dr Tan Ser Kiat

Mr Robin Chua

Miss Woo Ti Soo

Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1995

Dr Tan Ser Kiat

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Keng Sin

Mr Harphal Singh

1996

Dr Tan Ser Kiat

Mr Ong Pin Sam

Mr Tan Keng Sin

Mr Jeffrey Tan

1997 to 1998

Dr Tan Ser Kiat

LTC (REC) Martin Zhu

Mr Tan Keng Sin

Mr Jeffrey Tan

1999 to 2002

Dr Tan Ser Kiat

Mr Lee Chak Meng

Col Tay Tiong Beng

Mr Jeffrey Tan

2003 to 2004

Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen

Mr Lee Chak Meng

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Goh Siang Khin

2005 to 2006

Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen

Mr Lee Chak Meng

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Chng Jong Ling

2007 to 2008

Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen

Mr Conrad Campos

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr John Lee Mong Wah

2009 to 2010

Mr Conrad Campos

Mr Goh Siang Khin
Mr Gabriel Lim

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Ong Wee Gee

2010 to 2011

Mr Conrad Campos

Mr Gabriel Lim
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Ong Wee Gee

2011 to 2013

Mr Conrad Campos

Mr Gabriel Lim
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Ong Wee Gee

2013 to 2014

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Robin Chua
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Lee Chak Meng

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

2015 to 2016

Mr Jeffrey Tan

Mr Robin Chua
Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Mrs Doreen Yap

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua
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INTELLECTUALLY DISABLED OF SINGAPORE
MINDS Headquarters
Address: 800 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149310
Tel:
6479 5655
Fax:
6479 0706
Email: minds@minds.org.sg
Appropriate Adult (AA) Service
Address: 800 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149310
Tel:
6479 5655
Fax:
6479 0706
Email: AppropriateAdult@minds.org.sg
MINDS – Me Too! Club
11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community Hub
Singapore 409074
Tel:
6547 8502
Fax:
6547 8510
MINDS – Caregivers Support
Services Centre
11 Jalan Ubi, Block 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community Hub
Singapore 409074
Tel:
6547 8503
Fax:
6547 8510

SPECIAL SCHOOLS
MINDS - Fernvale Gardens School
Address: 7 Fernvale Road,
Singapore 797635
Tel:
6481 6697
Fax:
6483 2631
Email: fgs@minds.org.sg
MINDS - Lee Kong Chian
Gardens School
Address: 802 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149311
Tel:
6473 8332
Fax:
6473 4776
Email: lgs@minds.org.sg
MINDS - Towner Gardens School
Address: 1B Lengkong Lima,
Singapore 417557
Tel:
6446 2612
Fax:
6243 7498
Email: tgs@minds.org.sg

MINDS EMPLOYMENT
DEVELOPMENT CENTRES

MINDS TRAINING &
DEVELOPMENT CENTRES

MINDS - Idea Employment
Development Centre
Address: 29 Rosyth Road,
Singapore 546190
Tel:
6282 4852
Fax:
6280 5078
Email: iedc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Ang Mo Kio Training
& Development Centre
Address: Blk 134, Ang Mo Kio Ave 3,
Street 12, #01-1677, Singapore 560134
Tel:
6456 4174
Fax:
6453 2824
Email: atdc@minds.org.sg

SIA-MINDS Employment
Development Centre
Address: 800 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149310
Tel:
6473 1148
Fax:
6473 3885
Email: smedc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Clementi Training
& Development Centre
Address: Blk 304, Clementi Ave 4,
#01-487, Singapore 120304
Tel:
6776 8743
Fax:
6776 8741
Email: ctdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Woodlands Employment
Development Centre
Address: 30 Woodlands Ring Road,
#01-02, Singapore 737883
Tel:
6366 3966
Fax:
6366 7422
Email: wedc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Eunos Training &
Development Centre
Address: 11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3,
#01-21, Singapore 409074
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community Hub
Tel:
6547 8501
Fax:
6547 8509
Email: etdc@minds.org.sg

Hi-Job! (Job Placement /
Job Support Programme)
Block “Nest”, Enabling Village
20 Lengkok Bahru, #02-01
Singapore 159053
Tel:
6472 0838 / 6472 0836

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
MINDSville@Napiri
(Home, Hostel/Group Home
and Children’s Wing)
7 Lorong Napiri
Singapore 547533
Tel:
6387 7662
Fax:
6387 3357
Email: mv@minds.org.sg
MINDS Home-Based Care Services
11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community Hub
Singapore 409074
Tel:
6547 8503
Fax:
6547 8510

MINDS – Jurong Training &
Development Centre
Address: 18 Boon Lay Way,
#02-97 Singapore 609966                                       
Tradehub21
Tel:
6252 5226
Fax:
6252 6652
Email: jtdc@minds.org.sg
MINDS - Napiri Training &
Development Centre
Address: 7 Lorong Napiri,
Singapore 547533
Tel:
6387 7662
Fax:
6387 3357
Email: ntdc@minds.org.sg
MINDS - Tampines Training &
Development Centre
Address: Blk 267, Tampines Street 21,
#01-09, Singapore 520267
Tel:
6260 5886
Fax:
6260 5686
Email: ttdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Woodlands Gardens School
Address: 30 Woodlands Ring Road,
#01-01, Singapore 737883
Tel:
6468 0566
Fax:
6468 2142
Email: wgs@minds.org.sg
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